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LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY 
OF ONTARIO 

ASSEMBLÉE LÉGISLATIVE 
DE L’ONTARIO 

 Tuesday 27 November 2001 Mardi 27 novembre 2001 

The House met at 1845. 

ORDERS OF THE DAY 

RESPONSIBLE CHOICES FOR GROWTH 
AND FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY ACT 

(BUDGET MEASURES), 2001 
LOI DE 2001 SUR DES CHOIX RÉFLÉCHIS 

FAVORISANT LA CROISSANCE 
ET LA RESPONSABILITÉ FINANCIÈRE 

(MESURES BUDGÉTAIRES) 
Resuming the debate adjourned on November 26, 

2001, on the motion for second reading of Bill 127, An 
Act to implement measures contained in the Budget and 
to implement other initiatives of the Government / Projet 
de loi 127, Loi mettant en oeuvre certaines mesures 
énoncées dans le budget de 2001 ainsi que d’autres 
initiatives du gouvernement. 

Mr Peter Kormos (Niagara Centre): I appreciate 
this opportunity, and I especially appreciate it because—
can you believe it?—notice of motion is served on us 
today. This a very important piece of legislation and I 
understand its origins and I understand its motivation. It 
reflects the Conservative government’s agenda of yet 
more tax cuts, and I understand that. But the debate is 
going to be cut short; the debate is going to be stifled. 

Members of this assembly are going to be subjected—
all of them, every one of you in here this evening, all of 
you sitting in these benches, in opposition benches, in 
government benches—are going to be denied the 
opportunity to speak out on this bill, this bill with so 
many facets. There are members of the New Democratic 
Party caucus who want to speak to a number of areas of 
the bill. I very specifically want to speak to the yet 
further tax cuts, but the gag order, the time allocation 
motion, the closure motion that was presented today 
means that there will be but two hours of debate on the 
closure motion; not on this bill, not on this mini-
budget—because at the end of the day that is exactly 
what it is. 

It is a mini-budget; to call it anything else is to be less 
than candid or forthright or straight about what’s really 
happening here. Indeed, earlier today you heard David 
Christopherson, our finance critic—in view of the fact 
that one of the members of this government’s executive 
council, one of the members of its cabinet, a prominent 
member of its cabinet, said “Five-billion-dollar deficit? 

Are you nuts?” almost in that same manner. “We could 
be looking at $6 billion or $7 billion in deficit.” In the 
face of that, this government persists— 

Hon Helen Johns (Minister without Portfolio 
[Health and Long-Term Care]): Is that NDP account-
ing? 

Mr Kormos: These are the numbers. It’s Mr 
Tsubouchi, it’s the Chair of Management Board who 
leaked. It was interesting, because it was two Sundays 
ago that he leaked $5 billion, and now a leading member 
of cabinet says it could be as much as $6 billion or $7 
billion. That is indeed a shocking revelation, and were it 
not for the leadership race in the Conservative Party of 
Ontario, that revelation may never have occurred. 

So in the context of yes, a significant recession—and 
you know what I find remarkable? I have so little time 
and there are some folks I want to talk about, some good 
friends of mine from down in Niagara who are directly 
impacted by this bill and, for me, at the end of the day, if 
only because of those folks, I’m voting against this bill. 
It’s for a whole lot of other reasons too, but for those 
folks alone I’ll be voting against this legislation, Bill 127, 
this mini-budget. 
1850 

First of all, let’s talk about the restriction on debate, 
because after today, that’s it, friends. Not a single 
member of this House, after today, will be allowed to 
debate this bill or any facet of it, never mind the huge tax 
breaks for profitable corporations and yet more tax cuts 
for some of the wealthiest people in this province, and 
indeed some $300 million taken out of public coffers, 
taken away from public education to private—some of 
them for-profit—schools, because after today the debate 
is finished. After today, we’ll have but one short after-
noon to debate the time allocation motion, and we know 
what happens with those because nary a single member 
of this government is prepared to vote against them. 
Then, bang, the next time second reading is called, no 
more debate, voted on; third reading called, but an after-
noon of debate to be divided equally on third reading, the 
most significant stage of the process. What’s interesting, 
and let’s consider this and be very careful: no provision 
in the time allocation motion for referral to committee. 

Well, I’ve got news for this government because I tell 
you, the opposition will do everything it can to force this 
bill to the committee. 

Mr Rosario Marchese (Trinity-Spadina): Which 
opposition? Are the Liberals going to oppose it too? 

Mr Kormos: I tell you that New Democrats want this 
bill to go to committee so that members of the public 



3930 LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF ONTARIO 27 NOVEMBER 2001 

have an opportunity to tell you what your tax cuts mean 
to them. 

Let me tell you about some real folks, some real 
people, some people I know real well. 

Let me tell you about Tom Wayman. The last time I 
spoke with Tom down at the legion in Thorold, Saturday 
night, the night before Remembrance Day—it was 
November 10. The legion of course has a dinner on the 
evening before the Remembrance Day parade. Tom 
Wayman and his wife were there. Tom’s just an incred-
ible guy, a hard-working guy. He’s been a valuable 
member of that community. He’s also a veteran of the 
Second World War, served in Canada, Britain and, yes, 
Holland. And we know about our service people who 
served in Holland, don’t we? But you see, Tom Wayman 
suffers from macular degeneration. 

I don’t know if you know what macular degeneration 
means, Speaker, and I hope you never have to learn or 
find out in a personal way, but macular degeneration 
affects people of all ages—let’s make that very clear. Just 
the other night I was over at the Slovak Hall in Welland 
where the Rapelje Lodge and Sunset Haven staff were 
having their annual Christmas dinner and dance. Good 
folks; I enjoyed being there with them. I appreciated the 
chance to join them. These are the hard-working people 
in our nursing homes, the people who take care of senior 
citizens, our folks, our grandfolks, and who do so under 
increasing and incredible pressure because of this 
government’s cuts to those types of services. 

But I was over at Slovak Hall down on Hagar Street in 
Welland at the annual dinner and dance for the staff of 
Rapelje Lodge and Sunset Haven, the two seniors’ homes 
in the city of Welland—public seniors’ homes, the kind 
of seniors’ homes we should be building in this province 
rather than the private, for-profit ones which have tended 
to dominate in the course of the last six years of 
Conservative government here in Ontario. I met a young 
man there who isn’t a senior, who’s not over 50, who’s in 
his thirties. He’s a victim of macular degeneration as 
well. 

People like Joan Haymes in Fonthill, a wonderful 
woman—macular degeneration—who happens to be a 
senior as well. You see, macular degeneration is a disease 
that affects the eyesight. It’s one of the leading causes of 
blindness anywhere. If you don’t get the treatment, you 
go blind. That’s what happens. One day, you can see 
things around you. You can see the trees, you can see the 
sky, you can see your kids and your grandkids, you can 
see the river flowing through your community, or, in my 
case, the canal and the river—and the next day you’re 
blind. There is a treatment for macular degeneration. It’s 
a relatively new treatment. It’s a treatment that’s been 
approved by the Food and Drug Administration in the 
United States. It’s a treatment that’s been approved 
federally by the authorities here in Canada. It’s a treat-
ment that’s been approved by—one, two, three, four—I 
believe as many as five provinces. In fact, Quebec, 
Alberta, Saskatchewan, Nova Scotia and British Col-
umbia are all provinces which have listed this treatment 
so that people who suffer from macular degeneration—

like Tom Wayman, the World War II vet, like Joan 
Haymes from Fonthill—can save their eyesight, can 
escape the prison of blindness in their senior years. 

But, the treatment regimen costs as much as $15,000. 
I’m the last person in the world to come to the defence of 
pharmaceutical manufacturers, but the reality is that the 
pharmaceutical manufacturer has a new product recently 
developed and the fact is between the medical fees, the 
cost of the pharmaceutical and the treatment process, the 
cost is as much as $15,000. Tom Wayman, senior citizen, 
veteran of World War II, a hard-working member of the 
community of Thorold, is going to have to pay that out of 
his own pocket if he dares to be so arrogant as to want to 
save his eyesight. Joan Haymes, senior citizen, is going 
to have to pay that $15,000 out of her own pocket if she 
dares to be oh so demanding as to want to save her 
eyesight. 

A young man that I talked to at the Slovak Hall who 
works hard—he works hard at a job that contributes a 
great deal to the community but he doesn’t earn a whole 
lot of money, and he works hard for every penny he does 
earn—is going to have to pay for it out of pocket because 
this government won’t list that treatment for macular 
degeneration among the treatments and pharmaceuticals 
that are provided for people who deserve and require 
medical treatment in the province of Ontario, notwith-
standing that the treatment has been approved by the 
Food and Drug Administration in the United States, by 
the federal health authorities and, as I say, notwith-
standing that it’s been listed in the provinces of Quebec, 
Alberta, Saskatchewan, Nova Scotia and British Col-
umbia. 

Why, just the other day I met with a group of people 
who explained that this government’s delisting of audio-
logy services—do you know what that means? Testing 
your hearing, everything from very little kids, for whom 
hearing testing is an incredibly important thing—do you 
understand why? Because if a kid’s got a hearing prob-
lem, the earlier you detect it—and it’s remarkable; I’ve 
seen the labs and the work that they do, and audiologists 
can detect hearing problems or hearing loss at very, very 
early ages, literally babes in arms. They can. The earlier 
you detect hearing loss or hearing impairment, the more 
readily you can respond to it, if need be, using a hearing 
aid. At the end of the day that saves thousands of 
dollars—no, millions of dollars—in speech therapy, 
because a youngster learns how to speak by virtue of 
what he or she hears. Yet this government cut audiology 
services provided by audiologists. It delisted them. In 
other words, it created privatized health care for people 
who have to go or should be going to an audiologist to 
have their hearing tested. 

You have to understand, where I come from—heavy 
industry, foundries, drop forges, steel mills, arch 
furnaces—I’m telling you, hearing loss is a fact of life for 
working women and men, and it’s a reality for so many 
other people: infants, children and adults alike. 

This government delisted audiology services. Why? 
Why did it do it? It has acknowledged that it’s done it so 
that it can save $7 million-plus from the health budget. 
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That is an incredibly frightening proposition that this 
government is about. As a result of Bill 127, the bill that 
this bill is killing debate on, we’re going to give wealthy, 
big corporate entities tax breaks to the tune of $300 mil-
lion to private schools and another $1 million to the 
richest people in this province. 
1900 

Is it any wonder then why this government has to cut 
health care services to save money? It has to cut health 
care services, it has to cut audiology services, to save 
what it says is going to be $7 million, but we know that 
at the end of the day people are going to be paying five, 
six, seven, eight, nine, 10 times that because of the 
hearing problems as a result of inadequate audiology 
services being provided to folks in every community in 
this province. But it’s cutting $7 million to help finance 
that tax cut for corporations. That’s what’s happened. 

And it’s not listing the treatment for macular de-
generation. It’s making people like Tom Wayman, Joan 
Haymes and the young man I told you about over at the 
Slovak Hall pay for the tax cut for profitable and wealthy 
corporations by virtue of not listing the treatment for 
macular degeneration. In other words, that means these 
people are having to pay up to $15,000 out of their own 
pockets, but they don’t have the money. I’m telling you, 
they don’t have the money. They’re as hard-working as 
any people could be, all three of the ones I’ve spoken of, 
and there are hundreds more of them in Niagara region 
alone, thousands across this province. I told you, it’s one 
of the leading causes of blindness ever, anywhere, among 
anybody, and this government won’t list the pharma-
ceutical treatment for macular degeneration because it 
needs the money that it would otherwise pay through our 
health care system for that treatment. It needs that money 
to pay for the tax cuts for big, private, profitable cor-
porations. 

This government won’t list the treatment for macular 
degeneration. It will force people to not just dig deep into 
their pockets, but to prevail upon relatives to mortgage 
the home again in their senior years, to forgo some of the 
basic necessities of life to get that treatment because 
they’ve got to pay for it out of pocket. It’s called 
privatized health care; that’s what it’s called. Just like 
audiology services, this government won’t list those 
treatments. It won’t make them a part of our public health 
care system, it won’t make them a part of medicare, 
because this government wants to take money from the 
Tom Waymans and the Joan Haymeses of Ontario. This 
government wants to dig deep into their pockets to pay 
for tax breaks for profitable corporations, for corpora-
tions that are making money. Because the only corpor-
ations that get tax breaks are the ones that are making 
money and would otherwise have to pay taxes. 

Which leads us to the second consideration, because 
part of the rationale that government members might be 
inclined, should they dare, to give you for tax cuts for 
profitable corporations is that somehow it buoys up the 
economy in times of a recession—because, friends, we 
are in a recession, make no mistake about it. Ask the 300 

GM workers who have lost their jobs whether or not 
we’re in a recession. Ask the 27,000-plus who have lost 
their jobs in the last several months alone here in the 
province of Ontario—good jobs, value-added manu-
facturing jobs, production jobs. Ask them whether or not 
we’re in a recession. Ask retailers across this province. 
Ask car dealers. Ask people who work in The Bay or in 
Zellers and who have seen those non-lineups at the cash 
register this Christmas season. They know we’re in a 
recession. 

That tax break for profitable corporations does nothing 
to help the corporations that are struggling, does nothing 
to help the corporations whose primary customer was the 
American market. As everybody here knows, over 90% 
of our market, in terms of exports, is the United States of 
America. When the American economy slows down, 
when American industry isn’t buying our manufactured 
goods, we’re slowing down too. It’s the nature of the 
beast, especially when you develop an economy that has 
no independence and that’s entirely dependent on the 
American economy. Welcome to the world of free trade, 
my friends. Free trade, how do you like it so far? 

So tax cuts for profitable corporations do absolutely 
nothing to help out Algoma Steel—Algoma Steel, up in 
the Soo, Sault Ste Marie, where Tony Martin has been 
working like a dog, quite frankly, to do everything he can 
to keep that company alive, with no help from this 
government. Corporate tax cuts aren’t going to help keep 
Algoma Steel open. They aren’t going to help keep the 
thousands of workers working at Algoma Steel em-
ployed. Corporate tax cuts, which take money out of the 
pockets of Joan Haymes, Tom Wayman and others like 
them who suffer from macular degeneration, those 
corporate tax cuts that put money into the pockets of the 
big profitable corporations, are the same corporate tax 
cuts that are helping to undermine and pull the rug out 
from underneath those struggling companies that are on 
the verge and in the course of perhaps mere weeks, if not 
months, will be shutting their own doors, creating even 
more job losses in this, Mike Harris’s Ontario. 

You see, this budget is very much about folks in my 
communities and folks across this province who suffer 
from macular degeneration whose treatment ought to be a 
part of our OHIP program but whose treatment isn’t a 
part of that OHIP program because this government 
wants to cut OHIP costs so it can pay for tax cuts. I say 
that’s wrong. I say it’s immoral. I say that’s not the kind 
of Ontario that people like Joan Haymes and Tom 
Wayman worked so hard to build. And I say that New 
Democrats will not only vote against this bill but will 
continue to fight to restore delisted treatments to OHIP 
and to ensure that treatments for macular degeneration 
get on that list promptly to save eyesight, to save 
people’s lives, to save people’s futures, to make this the 
place it ought to be. 

The Acting Speaker (Mr Michael A. Brown): 
Questions or comments? 

Mr John O’Toole (Durham): I’m always pleased to 
hear from the member opposite and his particular per-
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spective on how to sustain the economy of Ontario. In 
fact, if you want to look to the future, you have to look to 
history to see what their policies in the past have resulted 
in. It’s an outstanding example of failure, really. They 
didn’t see it quite the way the government or the people 
of Ontario saw it, that you can’t tax yourself into pros-
perity and you can’t as government spend yourself into 
prosperity. They ended up with a difficult economic 
situation in their term of office between 1990 and 1995 
and their legacy is still being dealt with by the taxpayers 
of Ontario. 

With all the best of intentions, I really feel that despite 
the difficult economic times they had, the evidence is 
clear that they exacerbated the problem by continuing to 
spend in excess of what they could raise in the economy. 
The economy I refer to is the private sector, that is, small 
business in Ontario. They tended to try to spend money 
by taxing people, and what they found was that the 
people they were taxing slowly went out of business, 
which meant they got less revenue to help these people 
with macular degeneration and the other examples the 
member has brought to our attention. 

What we try to present is an option for the people of 
Ontario to consider. The success of the Harris govern-
ment has been that by encouraging investment, encourag-
ing entrepreneurship, you actually, through incentives—
that is, don’t tax every cent they make—encourage them 
to invest their time and talent so we have the increased 
revenue to invest in social and other programs that the 
people of Ontario need. I think they’ve got the economic 
message wrong, and the debate is still continuing. 

Mr David Ramsay (Timiskaming-Cochrane): I’d 
like to comment on what the member mentioned in his 
speech, and now also the government member, in citing 
the one example of macular degeneration, an illness that 
many people of all ages suffer. I think it’s a prime ex-
ample of the trickle-down theory this government 
proposes, that it’s somehow going to fix the maladies of 
people who suffer from a degenerative disease such as 
this. It’s just not true. 

This government persists in forgoing revenue, such as 
the latest $2.2-billion corporate tax cut, while we have 
people who are literally going blind through a degenera-
tive disease such as macular degeneration. This is ab-
solutely wrong. I’ve got constituents in my riding who 
write to me and say, “I cannot afford the $15,000 
treatment, a one-time treatment, that would preserve my 
eyesight.” Besides being the right social thing to do, it’s 
also the right economic thing to do to preserve that 
person’s sight, to make sure they are productive citizens. 
1910 

But no, this government says, “The cupboard is bare. 
We’ve got to go to Ottawa and look for more revenue.” 
Yet you have revenue sources there and you forgo them. 
You say, “We’ll allow the most profitable corporations to 
have further tax reductions,” while we have people who 
are going blind in Ontario. That’s wrong, and I think it is 
a good example of the mean-spiritedness of this govern-
ment. You should be taking care of the most vulnerable 

people. While you and I could maybe afford that treat-
ment, many people whom we represent can’t. We’ve got 
to be caring and look out for those people, because that’s 
what we’re sent here to do. The big shots and the people 
who make the big wages can speak for themselves in 
society. I think we’re here to represent the people who 
can’t speak for themselves and can’t take care of 
themselves and need that help. That’s what government’s 
for and that’s what we should be doing in this community 
of the Legislature: protecting those people who need that 
help. 

Mr Marchese: I congratulate my friend from Niagara 
Centre for his speech. He speaks with vigour each and 
every time in defence not of those who have but of those 
who do not have, because that’s what our role as New 
Democrats is all about. He knows, as all New Democrats 
know, that the market doesn’t work for everybody. Some 
people fail; they fall through the cracks. So he argues that 
the role of government is so critical in defence of those 
whom this government is leaving behind. That’s what’s 
most important about what the member for Niagara 
Centre says each and every time. 

He added that this subject is so important that it’s 
wrong for the government to introduce a strangulation 
motion on debate on this very important subject. We look 
forward to the debate of the Tories to defend their 
policies, as I look forward to the Liberals in the next few 
moments to see whether they too will oppose your 
policies as vigorously as we do. 

I say to the Tories, if you have the fortitude you’ll 
stand up and defend your policies. Don’t you strangulate 
debate tonight by shying away from the debate. Show the 
people of Ontario that you can defend what you have 
introduced in this place and that you won’t run away 
from it, hiding behind the closure motion you’ve intro-
duced, that you won’t run away tonight by not debating 
this bill. Show us you can do that. And I look eagerly 
toward the Liberal Party member who is here to see 
whether or not he will take his 20 minutes and debate this 
bill. 

Mrs Margaret Marland (Mississauga South): I’m 
happy to have the opportunity just for two minutes to say 
something about Bill 127, Responsible Choices for 
Growth and Fiscal Responsibility. 

When I listen to my colleagues across the floor and 
hear them talk about compassion and responsibility for 
all the people in this province, I can’t really believe that 
they can stand in their place and say what they’re saying 
tonight. They would have you believe, particularly the 
New Democratic Party, that they have a corner on com-
passion. You don’t have. Yes, you can be compassionate, 
but to suggest that you are the only people who speak for 
those people with problems in this province is a very 
undesirable thing for you to say. 

This government has created 800,000-plus net new 
jobs through its fiscal responsibility and amendments to 
the Labour Act and its total management of the economy 
in this province. And what about the 600,000 people who 
no longer depend on welfare, who no longer are at home 
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and whose children see them at home while their friends’ 
parents go off to work? Now those 600,000-plus families 
are role models for their children and the next gen-
erations to come, which, I respectfully suggest, is as im-
portant as any other aspect of getting people off welfare. 
It’s to go back to where welfare is only a bridging at the 
time of— 

The Acting Speaker: Thank you. The member’s time 
is up. 

Response, member for Niagara Centre. 
Mr Kormos: I’m talking very specifically about the 

delisting of treatment regimens and the refusal to list 
others. The delisting of audiology services is all about 
this government wanting to pull $7.7 million out of 
health care so they can use it to pay for their tax cuts. The 
refusal to list the treatment for macular degeneration, 
which will cause certain blindness for those who suffer 
from it, be they young or old, is all about this government 
having to raid health care to pay for its corporate tax 
breaks and its income tax breaks for the wealthiest people 
in this province. 

Look, the minimum wage here is $78,000 a year, and 
there’s but a handful of MPPs who don’t make more than 
that. I put this to you: the tax cuts this government has 
created for the wealthiest and the highest-income earners 
and for the most profitable corporations have meant cuts 
to health care, have meant the delisting of audiology 
services, have meant that folks like the folks I’ve been 
talking about tonight have to dig deep into their own 
pockets to pay up to $15,000 for treatment for macular 
degeneration, and their incomes can’t sustain it. 

I don’t care if I’ve got to pay 20 more dollars in 
income tax, 40 more dollars in income tax, 60 more 
dollars. I don’t care if I’ve got to pay 100 more dollars in 
income tax. At the end of the day, that’s money well 
invested, and I’m prepared to pay that as a taxpayer to 
ensure that folks like Tom Wayman and Joan Haymes get 
the treatment that OHIP is designed to provide for them. I 
don’t want your crummy tax break if it means that people 
are going to go blind because they can’t afford treatment 
for macular degeneration out of their own pockets. I say 
that’s immoral. I say that’s criminal. 

The Acting Speaker: Further debate? 
Mr O’Toole: I’m very pleased to rise as the parlia-

mentary assistant to the Minister of Finance and speak on 
Bill 127. It’s important to make sure we frame the 
discussion in a balanced way. It’s clear that the opposi-
tion Liberals have opposed every single tax cut, and yet 
at the same time, if questioned in scrums and other 
things, it’s clear they wouldn’t reverse those tax cuts. At 
least that’s their flip-flop message. They voted against 
them but they wouldn’t roll them back, so we’re not 
really clear what we’d get from the other side. 

When I speak to the NDP, it’s very clear that the 
member for Niagara Centre has made an appealing case 
for the necessary compassion, that we as public people 
have to look after the most vulnerable in society. As the 
member from Mississauga South just said, they don’t 
have the cornerstone on compassion or sympathy or 

empathy for the people of Ontario whom we’re all 
elected to serve. 

It’s important to step back one step farther and frame 
the discussion this way. Our premise is based on the 
fundamental concept that first you have to have a strong 
economy, with jobs and as high a level of employment as 
possible, to generate the revenue and provincial income 
tax and sales tax etc so you can support important, 
quality social and infrastructure programs—“social” 
meaning services for people. Whether it’s people in 
health care or education or people with special needs, if 
one looks closely at the budget and more recently at the 
economic statement, that’s exactly the course this gov-
ernment is on. 

I’m very pleased tonight to be reassured that there are 
members in the House here who—and I want to make 
special mention of some members here: the Honourable 
Brenda Elliott, the member from Guelph-Wellington, and 
the Minister of Intergovernmental Affairs is here, as a 
number of others are, to pay some respects. The Premier 
was here earlier this evening. In fact, I spoke with him at 
some length— 

The Acting Speaker: Order. You would know that it 
is out of order to refer to members’ presence or absence 
from the House. 
1920 

Mr O’Toole: Certainly, Mr Speaker. I respect your 
views on that, but I’m really trying to speak to the people 
of Ontario, whom it is my strong desire to serve as 
effectively as possible. 

Bill 127 will deliver on the promises made both in the 
2001 budget and in a series of announcements made this 
fall and would legitimate the responsible choices made 
by this government for supporting continuing economic 
growth. 

Tax cuts have been an integral part of this govern-
ment’s comprehensive economic policy since 1995, and I 
think the evidence is in at this point. It’s true. Tax cuts 
really do create jobs, over 800,000 new jobs. The people 
on the other side are going to say, “Well, you had to 
spend money in the form of tax cuts. That has reduced 
revenue that you would have otherwise received.” But 
what that has resulted in—it’s important to put this in an 
understandable form. Actually, the cost, the forgone 
revenue, was about $4 billion, but the increased revenue 
due to the greater openness of the economy, part of it 
being underground, and the increased employment 
resulted in—listen to this—$15 billion. That money, the 
$15 billion, didn’t go into anyone’s pocket except for the 
people of Ontario in the form of services: more money 
for education, more money for health care and more 
money for community programs. I could always stand 
here and be vulnerable on the point that there is arguably 
never enough money to satisfy all the needs of my 
constituents and of the people of Ontario. 

Because of our commitment to cutting taxes, the tax 
burden on people and small business, Ontario has en-
joyed strong economic growth and unprecedented job 
creation, as I mentioned. Tax cuts raise consumer 
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confidence, attract investment and stimulate the economy 
as no other government initiative can. After all, the 
money we spend we had to take from the taxpayers in the 
first place. That’s why, at this time of projected slower 
growth in the economy, it is critical to press ahead with 
our plans to continue to be tax-competitive with other 
jurisdictions and to allow people on fragile incomes to 
keep more of their own money. 

This bill proposes to accelerate to October 1 the 
personal income tax, business income and capital tax cuts 
announced in the 2001 budget, originally planned to start 
on January 1, 2002. We’ve just moved those forward to 
give some relief to small businesses and individuals who 
need that relief at this time. It’s a stimulus to the econ-
omy in this slower economic growth period. 

It also proposes to accelerate the application of the 
small business tax rate to more small businesses in 
Ontario. The proposed tax cut shows our faith in the tre-
mendous growth potential for Ontario, as well as the 
entrepreneurial spirit and productivity of the people 
we’re elected to serve. We aren’t patronizing. We believe 
that taxpayers have the wisdom and the decisiveness to 
make the decision to spend their hard-earned money 
wisely. In a period of economic uncertainty, we are 
confident that these tax reductions will help the prov-
ince’s economy to stay on track firmly, as a leader of this 
country. 

It’s important to note that the federal government has 
been a quiet beneficiary of our economic strategies. In 
fact, their revenues have increased by over $50 billion 
because of the policies of the Mike Harris government. 
No, they’re not ready to step up to the job and give their 
fair share to health care. You would know, Mr Speaker, 
because in your other life you sit in the opposition, that it 
was the Chrétien government that took health care 
funding down from the Mulroney days, when it was 18 
cents on every dollar, to 11 cents on every dollar. The 
Minister of Health—whether it was Minister Clement, 
Minister Wilson, Minister Witmer—and our Premier 
argued, and they finally relented and it’s up to 14 cents. 
But everyone listening knows that when the original 
Canada Health Act was signed, it was a 50-50 agreement. 
Where are they today? They hide behind the tinsel press, 
the Toronto Star, those kinds of glib editorials that sup-
port the Liberal motif. 

Nonetheless, we, as the government, understand that 
an economic slowdown can be particularly hard on low- 
and middle-income working families, especially those 
with children. This bill proposes to provide eligible fam-
ilies with $100 for each child under the age of seven as a 
tax-free, one-time payment to offset costs. It will help 
them. It’s as simple as this: at this time of year, ap-
proaching Christmas, it’s to help them to buy a toy for 
the child. That’s real money in the hands of people. The 
other side would have us give that money to some 
bureaucrat to funnel out in some program of which about 
20 cents on every dollar would actually get to where it’s 
really needed. 

It’s about responsible choices. This government has 
the courage to not be influenced by the high-pressure 

lobby groups who want the individual bureaucrats to 
actually keep the money. We have what I think is a bal-
anced fiscal conservative attitude as well as a responsible 
social conservative attitude. 

The bill also implements important choices made in 
other areas, for instance, very important areas of public 
transit and infrastructure. Our proposal to take back the 
responsibility for GO Transit will affect my area of 
Durham as well. We announced transit for municipalities 
in September of this year. The proposed measure would 
free up to $100 million for the greater Toronto area 
municipalities. Of course that would include Toronto, but 
it also includes my region of Durham. I think the number 
they would have is about $14 million to reinvest in local 
and regional transit responsibilities and priorities. Invest-
ing in expanding transit service demonstrates our com-
mitment to addressing traffic, gridlock and the protection 
of our environment. You know they work hand in hand. 
Traffic and traffic congestion go hand in hand with 
gridlock and the implications for smog in our environ-
ment. 

The Responsible Choices for Growth and Fiscal 
Responsibility Act that we’re discussing, Bill 127, would 
benefit a broad range of taxpayers at all income levels, 
despite the rhetoric on the other side that it’s our rich 
Tory friends. Hard-working people need to be respected, 
and that’s what this Responsible Choices for Growth and 
Fiscal Responsibility Act is all about. 

Other measures proposed in the bill include encourag-
ing the restoration and preservation of heritage buildings 
by providing property tax relief to owners of heritage 
properties under LACAC, local architectural conserva-
tion advisory committees, which I did have the privilege 
to serve with; they are very pleased with that commit-
ment to tradition and community. 

We are providing venture capital for small business by 
expanding the deadline for registering new community 
small business investment funds to December 31, 2002, 
and further, reducing red tape for Ontario small business 
by allowing businesses with corporate tax payable of at 
least $2,000 and less than $10,000 to remit tax install-
ments quarterly instead of monthly, a small but needed 
regulatory change that this government is implementing. 

We are restoring support for research and develop-
ment—very important—by suspending the R&D super-
allowance and allowing corporations to exclude from On-
tario taxable income the portion of the federal investment 
tax credit that relates to Ontario research and develop-
ment expenditures. Clearly, there was a clawback at the 
federal level. We’ve fixed that needless burden. 

This government will not surrender the hard-won 
gains that have restored Ontario to its prosperous and 
rightful position as the leader in this country. This bill 
will help ensure that Ontario remains well positioned to 
withstand the economic challenges that lie ahead for each 
of us. We intend to stick to the key principles that have 
guided our economic, fiscal and social responsibilities 
since 1995, including a commitment to economic growth, 
job creation, fiscal responsibility, making choices and 
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planning for the future. More importantly, it’s about 
leadership, leadership that’s able to deal with difficult 
choices, to plan and respond to the needs of our econ-
omy. 

I encourage future speakers to respond to the stimulus, 
balanced budgets, tax cuts, prudent planning, competit-
iveness, transit funding, higher quality of life for all 
people in Ontario, the SuperBuild initiatives to address 
education and health care, Smart Growth, with the im-
portant municipal implications, global marketing, and 
most of all, safety. I’m pleased to support Bill 127 and 
our Minister of Finance, Jim Flaherty. He’s the right man 
for the job. 
1930 

The Acting Speaker: Questions and comments? 
Mr Kormos: In short order, Rosario Marchese, the 

member for Trinity-Spadina, is going to be speaking to 
Bill 127. 

Listen carefully to the canned speeches, the prepared 
texts, of government backbenchers. I noticed that the 
member—to be fair, we only have 20 minutes available 
to us because of the rules imposed on us, and he used but 
13 of them. I suppose the speech writers, when they 
pump this stuff out of the PCs and the word processors, 
should be a little more careful in determining how many 
pages it takes to fill 20 minutes. 

Look, New Democrats are eager to talk about real 
people: real people, real families, real communities, real 
lives that this government’s budgetary policies are having 
a devastating impact on. There are people out there, 
good, hard-working folks, young families struggling to 
look for work and struggling to keep jobs in the economy 
this government has been nurturing, an incredibly un-
stable economy where the loss of good, value-added 
manufacturing jobs that people used to pursue as careers 
is having a devastating effect on young families and all 
the way through to the senior citizens that I talked about 
a little while ago. This government’s fiscal policies have 
to be examined in light of what this government is doing 
to real people out there. 

When this government has to raid OHIP and raid 
health care to pay for its tax cuts, I say that this gov-
ernment had better start re-examining those tax cuts, 
especially when those tax cuts are designed to put 
additional profits into the pockets of the wealthiest and 
most profitable corporations in this province. 

Mr Steve Gilchrist (Scarborough East): As usual, 
it’s hard to sit on this side and listen to the rant from the 
member opposite and try to reconcile that with the reality 
of the economy here in the province of Ontario. 

He talks about how the tax cuts have only benefited 
big business. He knows full well that in his riding of 
Welland, every single man and woman who is a taxpayer 
has benefited from the extraordinary decrease in taxes 
that have been a fact of life in Ontario since 1995. He 
knows that hundreds of thousands of people have come 
off the tax rolls altogether—the Ontario tax rolls. Now, 
they still pay federal tax. The Liberal government in Ot-
tawa still charges that tax at less than $8,000 in income, 

because that’s how much they care about the poor. But 
here in Ontario, the member opposite would know that 
you have to make almost $20,000 a year before you pay 
one cent toward your health care, one cent toward your 
kids’ education, one cent toward the OPP or one cent 
toward any of the other extraordinarily important services 
delivered by the provincial government—not one cent, 
because of the tax changes that our government has 
implemented in the last six years. 

We hear stories about how there will be billions of tax 
dollars cut again in the next year or two. The fact of the 
matter is that tax cuts create revenue. We have seen an 
increase of 50% in the revenue of the province by leaving 
money in the hands of hard-working Ontarians, who 
deserve to keep a fair share of their income. When 
government takes those dollars, they’re lost, but when the 
taxpayers have them they can control the spending. They 
can decide what’s an important purchase for them. They 
can decide where they want to spend those dollars. 

That’s why our economy has done so well. That’s why 
you’re wrong now and that’s why you’ve been proved 
wrong in each of the two elections. 

Mr James J. Bradley (St Catharines): I heard the 
member for Durham extolling the virtues of the Treasurer 
of Ontario, the Honourable James Flaherty. I wonder 
what he thinks of the comments made by the Minister of 
Labour, the Honourable Chris Stockwell, member for 
Etobicoke Centre, who, when he launched his campaign, 
said that you simply can’t have more tax cuts. He said 
you can’t square that circle, of saying to people, “First of 
all, there’s not going to be a deficit, and at the same time 
I’m going to cut taxes.” Now, it’s not somebody here on 
this side who said it. This was the Honourable Chris 
Stockwell. 

Interjection. 
Mr Bradley: You were not a member of the House at 

the time, but you will remember that there were four 
Conservative members who were well known for saying 
to the government, “Look, let’s not implement tax cuts 
until such time as we’ve balanced the budget.” I re-
member it was the Honourable Chris Stockwell; the 
member for Waterloo-Wellington was a second person; 
the member for Oakville, the Speaker of this House; and 
I think it might have been the member for Grey-Owen 
Sound. Anyway, there were four members who said to 
the government, “Look, it’s not that we’re opposed to tax 
cuts”—that’s what they said—“but you have to wait until 
you’ve balanced the budget. Otherwise, you have to 
borrow money to give a tax cut.” 

Of course, we know that under the Conservative 
government the debt of this province increased by $22 
billion. A lot of people in this province don’t want to 
accept that—the chamber of commerce and people like 
that don’t want to accept it—but the debt went up by $22 
billion. Now we know that the Premier of this province is 
whining again because he wants federal money to pay for 
his tax cuts. He doesn’t want it for health care. He’s 
going to lose all kinds of money with his tax cuts, so he 
needs that money to pay for those tax cuts. 
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Mr Gilles Bisson (Timmins-James Bay): I listened 
very intently to the comments made by the member 
across the way, and I’ve got to say there’s a real problem. 
If you listen to his argument, his argument simply is this: 
the government does tax cuts, the tax cuts create 
opportunities because people go out and spend that 
money, and the economy just picks up and does so fine. 
If that’s the case, can somebody explain to me why we’re 
now in a recession? You’ve given billions of dollars in 
tax cuts, and to listen to the argument the member makes, 
we should be booming. There should be jobs just flowing 
from the economy and we should be doing just 
wonderfully. But we’re in a recession. Why is that? The 
members don’t want to accept the reality that over 90% 
of goods produced in Ontario are exported to the United 
States. Because they’re exported and the American 
economy is going down, of course we’re in a recession. 
We’re linked to the United States almost to the hip when 
it comes to our economy. 

Don’t argue to me that tax cuts are going to rebound 
the economy. That would be like saying your tax cuts 
were responsible for the resurgence in the American 
economy under Clinton. Then I hear the member say, 
“But the federal government collected $50 billion in new 
revenues because of Mike Harris’s tax cuts.” Give your 
head a shake. Where do you get those numbers from? It’s 
like pulling them out of the air. There was more revenue 
across Canada. Are you arguing that the tax cut fuelled 
the economies of Quebec, Manitoba, British Columbia 
and Alberta? You’re playing with figures. It’s crazy. 

Then you’ve got the illustrious Mr Steve Gilchrist 
saying, “We’ve had a 50% increase in revenue in the 
province of Ontario.” No wonder he went bankrupt. He 
can’t count. Excuse me; he didn’t go bankrupt. I re-
phrase. That’s not the case. He was on for tax problems. 

The reality is that the economy of Ontario doesn’t see 
the type of increase in revenue he talks about. 

The Acting Speaker: The member for Durham. 
Mr O’Toole: I’m very pleased that there were at least 

four people in the House listening: the members from 
Niagara Centre, Scarborough East, St Catharines and 
Timmins-James Bay. 

I clearly think there are times when government needs 
strong leadership. We can boil all this down to the fact 
that Bob Rae was a very academic, capable leader but 
really didn’t really have the economic strength or leader-
ship qualities to lead the government. I look at Dalton 
McGuinty and I’m still convinced he’s not up to the job. 
The member from St Catharines mentioned it. Am I in 
support of Minister Flaherty? Well, he’s the Minister of 
Finance and he’s the person I’m responding to. 

Mr Bradley: Mr Stockwell. 
Mr O’Toole: Minister Stockwell is certainly a mem-

ber of the cabinet and as such has voted and supported all 
the measures—all the measures, I might say, that you 
voted against yet wouldn’t have the courage to reverse. 

I have to go back to the original vision here: which 
came first, the chicken or the egg? What I and the other 
members who will be speaking tonight are presenting to 

you is that you have to have a strong economy to support 
the quality of life we’ve become accustomed to. One 
only has to look at the 10 lost years. You spent more and 
we got less. The NDP doubled the debt, doubled the 
deficit. We’re spending $9 billion a year in interest on the 
accumulated debt. That’s $9 billion that the children in 
classrooms, the hard-working families and the hospitals 
are paying for. 

It’s clear to me that the opposition doesn’t understand 
it. I’m confident that Paul Martin gets it. He’s introduced 
important measures to reward effort so that you don’t tax 
the rich but have to work with it so they stay invested so 
we can have the standard of living and the quality of life 
that people of Ontario deserve. 
1940 

The Acting Speaker: Further debate? 
Mr Richard Patten (Ottawa Centre): Mr Speaker, 

I’ll be sharing my time with the member for Essex. 
It’s a pleasure for me to rise this evening and to share 

some brief remarks on Bill 127. As usual, the govern-
ment likes to have especially interesting names for all 
their bills. 

Of course, this afternoon the House leader on the gov-
ernment side introduced a time allocation motion, which 
means that yet again debate will be cut off. The govern-
ment uses this tactic more than any government in any 
jurisdiction in this country: time allocation and closure to 
limit debate and opportunities for MPPs to respond. This 
is another example of that. 

This bill also continues a long-standing approach by 
this government in that many of the measures related to it 
will be made by regulation—which means by order in 
council, which means by the government behind closed 
doors—and not in this legislation that will have an effect 
on people. The continued centralization of power with 
the Premier and with the cabinet continues. 

Talking about the values and the priorities of this par-
ticular government, it’s quite clear where their priorities 
are. Their priorities are with economics and with benefit-
ing those who really don’t need support and help, and 
that is essentially the big corporate community—not the 
small corporate community but the big corporate com-
munity in particular—even at a time when the gov-
ernment revenues are declining. The member for 
Scarborough East talked earlier about the wisdom of tax 
cuts stimulating the economy, producing increased 
revenues. I would suggest to him that if he looked at the 
budget figures today, indeed all government revenues are 
on the decline, except in one particular category. Where 
might that category be? Transfers from the federal 
government to the provinces, last year and this year. 

The government is determined to continue to offer un-
necessary $2.2-billion corporate tax cuts in the name of 
trying to provide competitiveness. We’re already com-
petitive on a corporate tax basis, as everyone well knows. 
So why do we pursue this, when we know that health, 
education and the environment are in such sorry need of 
additional resources to do the minimal job required? 
They are all suffering, and this money is going else-
where. 
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The Premier, in his speech to the Canadian Club just 
two days ago, said the federal government was the single 
greatest threat to medicare because of its health care 
funding policies. It’s quite amazing that anyone can say 
almost anything and not be challenged, not be scrutin-
ized. I’m surprised that the media haven’t even done the 
analysis extremely well on this and looked at the history. 

It was only a year ago that all provinces and the 
federal government signed a five-year agreement. That 
five-year agreement was that the federal government 
would increase its revenues to the provinces for health 
and social transfers. That means that this year, next year 
and for the next five years, Ontario will receive $8 billion 
more than they have received in the past. And still there’s 
a complaint that it’s not enough. It’s not enough, of 
course, because when you look at how this government is 
using its resources, it’s using them to subsidize a tax cut 
because the revenues aren’t there anymore. The revenues 
have fallen, except for federal transfers. 

I have only a short opportunity here, but I would think 
that the government members on the other side should 
reflect quite carefully as to their particular commitment 
at the end of the day, as to when they return to their 
ridings what they say to their constituents. Just ask them 
these questions: Do you believe that this government has 
produced a better set of protections for our environment? 
Do you believe that we now have better health care? Do 
you believe that we now have better education for our 
children? 

Mr Marcel Beaubien (Lambton-Kent-Middlesex): 
Absolutely. 

Mr Gilchrist: Vastly improved. 
Mr Patten: I don’t know what ridings these members 

represent, but I tell you, I ask those questions in my 
riding and continually the answer, sadly, is, “No, none of 
those things are improvements. They are all sadly lacking 
since the election of the Harris government.” 

Mr Bruce Crozier (Essex): In this debate on Bill 127 
I want to read into the record some research that I’ve 
done on the federal-provincial tax point system. I invite 
the members, as well as the public, to read Hansard to-
morrow or the next day and have a look at this informa-
tion. 

When it comes to the Canada health and social trans-
fers to Ontario, the federal government provides financial 
support to Ontario, most notably through the Canada 
health and social transfers. Provinces can use these funds 
to finance their responsibilities in the areas of health, 
post-secondary education and social assistance, accord-
ing to their spending priorities. 

Just a little bit of background: in 1995-96, the Can-
adian health and social tax transfer was $4.5 billion. In 
1999-2000, it was $5.8 billion. I will point out to the 
Legislature that the cash transfers during that time went 
from $6.2 billion to $4.9 billion. So there was a reduction 
of $1.3 billion in cash transfers but there was an increase 
of $1.3 billion in tax transfers, benefits that the province 
of Ontario gets. In the year 2000-01, as was referred to 
by my colleague from Ottawa, the federal government 

increased the cash transfer by $1.2 billion and the 
provincial government increased its health care spending 
by $1.1 billion. So all of the increase in 2000-01 came 
from the federal government. 

In 1999-2000, in the transfers to Ontario, there was an 
historical high of $10.8 billion, of which $5 billion was 
in cash and $5.8 billion was in taxes that had been 
reduced from the federal government and given to the 
provincial government, the so-called tax point. It will 
account for 19% of Ontario’s estimated total revenues. 
This is about $932 a person. 

The Canadian health and social transfer tax is a federal 
tax transfer that involves the federal government ceding 
some of its tax room to provincial governments, and they 
never speak about this in this Legislature. Specifically, a 
tax transfer occurs when the federal government reduces 
its tax rate to allow the provinces to raise their tax rates 
by an equivalent amount. With a tax transfer, the changes 
in federal and provincial tax rates offset one another and 
there’s no net financial impact. 
1950 

Interjection. 
Mr Crozier: I may have misspoken on the dates. I’m 

talking about 1999-2000. 
Mr Gilchrist: In 1977 they started it. 
Mr Crozier: That’s when it started, but I’ll give you 

that history. 
However, revenues that would have flowed to the 

federal government flow instead to the provincial gov-
ernment. It represents forgone revenue to the federal 
government, each and every year, and additional revenue 
to the provincial governments. In this way, a tax transfer 
has the same impact on the federal and provincial 
budgets as a cash transfer. Tax transfers represent a 
growing source of revenue for the provinces since they 
increase in value over time with the growth of the prov-
ince’s economy, which is what you brag about all the 
time. In 1977-78, major tax transfers to provincial and 
territorial governments were worth $2.7 billion. Today 
these tax transfers are worth four times as much—$13.9 
billion. 

The minister over there looks a little bit confused. This 
isn’t my information. This comes from independent 
research. 

Tax transfers represent a significant amount to the 
provinces. In 1999-2000, provinces will receive a total of 
$28.8 billion in the Canadian health and social transfer. 
Of this, $14.3 billion will be in transfers and $14.5 billion 
will be in cash transfers. A mix of tax and cash helps 
address disparities among provinces. The value of each 
percentage point of federal tax in a province is deter-
mined by the level of income in that province. Again, 
you brag about the increase in income. It’s an increase in 
revenue. Tax points are therefore worth less in some 
provinces than in others. For example, one personal 
income tax point is worth $31 in Ontario per capita but 
only $16 in Newfoundland. 

The Canadian health and social cash transfer tops up 
the value of tax points, thus automatically compensating 
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for the differences in the value of the tax transfer among 
the provinces. Less prosperous provinces therefore 
receive a larger portion of their cash transfer. 

The Canadian health and social transfer is not 
currently distributed on an equal per capita basis among 
the provinces. This is due in large measure to limitations 
imposed on one of the Canadian health and social 
transfer’s predecessors, the Canadian assistance plan, 
better known as CAP. The 1999 budget took action to 
remove disparities in the per capita amounts transferred 
to different provinces and territories by 2001-02. All 
provinces and territories will then receive identical per 
capita Canadian health and social transfer entitlements, 
providing equal support for health and social services to 
all Canadians no matter where they live. 

By 2001-02, Ontario’s share of the Canadian health 
and social transfer will match its percentage of Canada’s 
population, thus providing equal support for health and 
other social services to all Canadians. The move to equal 
per capita Canadian health and social transfer entitle-
ments will give Ontario almost an additional $1 billion 
over the next five years. 

I point out again that this is my research, but it was 
done by a third party. 

Since the tax point transfer system is part of a broad 
array of fiscal— 

Laughter. 
Mr Crozier: Well, you laugh, but you don’t talk 

about this revenue. So just listen and read it tomorrow, if 
you can. It’s part of a broad array of fiscal matters that 
was agreed to by the provinces, and now we get into the 
history of it. 

In 1958, under the Hospital Insurance and Diagnostic 
Services Act, the federal government provided the prov-
inces with 25% of their per capita costs and 25% of the 
national per capita costs times their population. 

In 1965, the Established Programs Act permitted 
opting out by the provinces. The province of Quebec, in 
fact, did opt out. 

In 1996, the Canada assistance plan, or CAP, as I re-
ferred to it earlier, initiated a 50-50 shared-cost program 
for various social purposes. 

Then 1967 saw a post-secondary education cost-
sharing agreement between the federal and provincial 
governments. Cost sharing was 50% of operating costs or 
a specific per capita amount if the province so desired. 

In 1968, the Medical Care Act came into force. By 
1972, all the provinces had signed on and agreed to it. 
Ottawa paid 50% of the national average costs, which 
were distributed to the provinces on an equal per capita 
basis as long as they met the criteria, which were com-
prehensiveness, universality, portability, public adminis-
tration and accessibility. 

In 1997, following the passage of the Federal-Prov-
incial Fiscal Arrangements Act, the federal government 
gave up its share of its income tax revenues to the 
provinces and, in place of the cash payments formerly 
made to finance the federal share of the three established 
cost-sharing programs—hospital insurance, medicare and 

post-secondary education—Ottawa transferred to the 
provinces an additional 9.143 personal income tax points, 
in addition to the existing 4.357 points that it had sur-
rendered previously, and the one point of corporation tax, 
for a total of 13.5 tax points. These tax points were 
incorporated into provincial tax regimes and were equal-
ized via the formal equalization formula, like any other 
provincial revenue. These equalized transfers were 
notional—they were not actual transfers, but they were 
money that the provinces had as revenue through tax. 

The 1995 federal budget introduced the Canada Health 
and Social Transfer Act, which made the Canada 
assistance plan and the established program financing 
into a single block of funding, which consisted of cash 
transfers—which again, is the only thing that they speak 
about in this Legislature—and tax transfers. In the fol-
lowing budget that year, 1995, a cash floor was estab-
lished to ensure that the growth in the value of the tax 
transfer would not erode or eliminate the cash transfer. 

There are arguments in favour of and opposed to this. 
I conclude this evening with mentioning both. 

No specific study of advantages or disadvantages of 
the tax points system seems to have been undertaken. 
However, it has been suggested that the federal gov-
ernment hoped to address a number of concerns when it 
replaced cost-shared programs that were agreed to by the 
provincial governments. 
2000 

In the first place, Ottawa expected to regain some 
control over its expenditures by abolishing the link 
between the federal transfer and program costs, because 
health care costs, of course, and the expenditure of health 
care funds are the purview of the province. Moreover, it 
was concerned that the acceptance of tax points by 
Quebec instead of cash transfers was regarded by other 
provinces as special treatment. Hence, a transfer of tax 
points was made to make them all feel equal. 

I know that in hurrying through this it sounds con-
fusing, so I ask the members on the government side to 
simply get Hansard, sit down, read it, and when you talk 
about money from the federal government and when the 
Premier goes whining to the federal government the way 
he accused Bob Rae of doing some years ago, that you 
take that into consideration. 

The Acting Speaker: Questions or comments? 
Mr Marchese: I don’t disagree with what the member 

for Essex just said in the last 10 minutes. In fact, I would 
have started with the conclusion and forgotten about the 
whole nine and a half minutes of the explanation and 
defending the federal Liberals for, I don’t know, about 10 
minutes or so. It wasn’t so much confusing as defensive. 
Just say, member for Essex, that these Tories are whining 
ad infinitum, and tell them to stop. Say that. 

Mr Kormos: And ad nauseam. 
Mr Marchese: And ad nauseam; it’s true. Say that. 

But to do a whole 10-minute defence, an accounting, as 
the accountant that you are, of the what the federal 
Liberal government is doing is too defensive. Don’t do 
that. It looks, in my view, bad on you. 
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I’ve got to tell you, this government is a bit luckier 
than New Democrats were, because Mulroney was not so 
magnanimous to Bob Rae and neither was, frankly, M. 
Chrétien. 

Mr Bisson: He was even worse. 
Mr Marchese: He hurt us badly too. It is fair to say 

that by 1998-99, Chrétien returned a whole lot of money 
to this government that it had not given. This is true. 
That’s why I say—Monsieur Dunlop, s’il te plaît—in all 
fairness, we got whacked by Mulroney; we got whacked 
by Chrétien in 1993, 1994, and the beginning of 1995. 
We got whacked badly when we needed money. When 
Tories didn’t need the money because they had billions 
coming in, they sent a whole lot of money back. I guess 
they got embarrassed by the Tories saying, “We’re going 
to go after you because, boy, do we know how to whine. 
We whine good. We whine real good.” And they’re still 
doing it. 

Mr Kormos: What’s the Tories’ favourite whine? 
Mr Marchese: The Tories’ favourite whine—and 

they do whine. You’re looking at the clock, Speaker. I 
know you are. 

The Acting Speaker: Thank you. The member for 
Durham on questions and comments. 

Mr O’Toole: I couldn’t resist. I was watching the 
comments. The member for Essex tried to make clear the 
complex relationship between transfer payments to the 
province and the argument of tax points. 

If he actually did his homework, he would find out 
that in 1977, the federal government of the day did give 
provinces tax space. By 1985, all of the tax space had 
been reversed by other increases in tax at the federal 
level. The record is clear. There is a permanent tattoo on 
the Liberal government, at whatever level, provincial or 
federal, whatever province: they increase taxes and 
spending. It’s the record between 1985 and 1990. That’s 
their record. 

Let’s go back to the fundamentals of the lack of com-
mitment to health care by the federal Liberal government. 
In fact, they are here tonight, and their response— 

Interjections. 
Mr O’Toole: Since we were elected—the evidence 

has to be on the record and Hansard will record it—the 
spending in health care has risen $6 billion, from $17.4 
billion to almost $24 billion. The federal government’s 
share has moved from when, under Mulroney, a name 
they don’t like to hear, it was 18 cents on the dollar. It 
was that government and their buddies in Ottawa that 
moved it to 11 cents. Through our Premier’s demand, 
they moved it to 14. It’s still $2 billion a year short. 
Honest to God, I can’t believe the people of Ontario 
don’t get it. Certainly this government here and our 
Premier yesterday in Ottawa made it clear that— 

The Acting Speaker: Thank you. The member for 
Stormont-Dundas-Charlottenburgh. 

Mr John C. Cleary (Stormont-Dundas-Charlotten-
burgh): I want to congratulate my colleagues the 
member from Essex and the member from Ottawa for 

their comments on this debate. A lot of good information 
was passed out and should be helpful to us all. 

I did not like the previous speaker, from Durham, who 
talked about broken promises. If anybody broke any 
more promises than their government did, I’d have to eat 
my shirt. In an interview with Robert Fisher on Global 
prior to the 1995 election, when the Premier was the 
Leader of the Opposition, he was asked about closing 
hospitals. He said, “Robert, it’s not my plan to close 
hospitals.” So you talk about broken promises—they’re 
there. Another election promise too—he never said any-
thing about amalgamating municipalities. But we know 
about the messes he has caused there in some of these 
instances. 

Interjections. 
Mr Cleary: We’ll talk to you another time. 
The other thing is, he has put this province in debt 

another $22 billion, borrowing the money for a tax break. 
I know there are lots of issues still in the health care 

system. We have in our community people still travelling 
to Ottawa or Kingston three times a week for dialysis 
treatment. That could have been solved very simply, 
because the money has been announced, reannounced 
and reannounced again, but the people are still going to 
be travelling in these winter months again. 

I don’t think the people of this province are going to 
forget too much, because this government talks about a 
balanced budget, but they forget about the $22 billion of 
borrowed money. 

Mr Bisson: Just before I respond to this particular 
comment, I just want to make an apology to Mr Gilchrist 
right up front, because in my response the last time I said 
he had gone bankrupt, and that is not correct. I withdrew 
it right away and I want to make very clear that I apol-
ogize. I didn’t mean to say that. It was a tax problem, and 
I misspoke myself. So to Mr Gilchrist, I want to apol-
ogize. It wasn’t meant to be what he thinks it is. 

At any rate, I just want to take this opportunity to pick 
up on the comments by the member from Essex, because 
it’s a really important fact. The fact is, the government on 
a number of occasions now has been running to Ottawa 
and saying to Mr Chrétien—whine, whine, whine—
“We’re not getting enough money.” I say there are two 
problems with that. The first problem is a political one 
for me in the sense that that was the same party that, 
when we were in government and we were being 
downloaded on by both the Mulroney government and 
the Chrétien government, used to come to us and say, 
“Quit whining. What you have is not a revenue problem; 
you have a spending problem. Quit whining.” Then they 
get elected and now I see them whining to the federal 
government. So I say, were they really up front about 
what they wanted to do when they accused us of it? 

The second part is this: you have the Tories whining 
they’re not getting enough money from the federal gov-
ernment, but at the same time they have given out over 
$6 billion in tax cuts to the citizens of Ontario. There was 
an interesting story in the Star or the Sun, and every-
where else today. That was the quote where Harris said 
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that Queen’s Park would impose user fees and introduce 
private health care in Ontario if the federal government 
didn’t pump an extra $6 billion per year into funding 
health care. So $6 billion is what they want from the 
federal government; $6-billion-plus is what they took 
from tax cuts. Why are they going to whine when they 
could have done something over here locally, I have to 
ask myself. So the favourite whine for Mr Harris is, 
“There is no whine before its time.” 

The Acting Speaker: Response, the member for 
Essex. 

Mr Crozier: I apologize to my friends in the Legis-
lature and those at home if I spoke too much in an 
accounting way tonight, but I invite them to get Hansard 
and just read the comments. 

The fact of the matter is this: this government talks 
about cash transfers, and only cash transfers, from the 
federal government. I wanted to point out to the public 
that in the year 1999-2000, $5.8 billion was revenue for 
the province of Ontario through tax points. They won’t 
mention this. 
2010 

When it comes to health care, when it comes to edu-
cation, when it comes to the environment, they choose 
tax cuts; we choose health care, education and the 
environment. Now the Harris regime and all those who 
sat around the table with him have painted themselves 
into a corner. We’re into a recession and they can’t afford 
the tax cuts they’ve given, and yet some of the candidates 
for their leadership continue to preach. If these tax cuts 
are doing such great work, what’s happening today? 
Where are the jobs today that they’re creating? They 
aren’t there. 

The Minister of Labour, who’s one of the candidates, 
has it right. He says we can’t promise tax cuts like the 
rest of them are in the economy that we have today. We 
need to promise health care, education and the environ-
ment. 

The Acting Speaker: Further debate? 
Mr Gilchrist: I’m pleased to join the debate today on 

this very important budget bill. I know there’s always a 
temptation to lower oneself into the gutter to match the 
contributions of people like Mr Bisson, but I’ll fight that 
urge and simply offer the observation that I would match 
the business acumen and the sense of ethics of any one 
member on the government side against the entire NDP 
caucus. It would not be a fair fight. 

The bottom line in all of this is the very important 
message that the Premier is trying to convey and the 
finance minister, Jim Flaherty, is trying to convey in this 
budget. If you look at the cold, hard facts, Mr Hoy from 
Essex would have you believe that reading and rereading 
what he just said in Hansard might make it a little clearer. 
I would suggest even to accountants that he’s done a 
great job of obfuscating and skating around the facts. But 
since 1995, in cold, hard cash that even Mr Hoy can 
understand— 

Interjection: It was Mr Crozier. 
Mr Gilchrist: My apologies—Mr Crozier, the riding 

of Essex. 

The Acting Speaker: The member for Essex is what 
you meant to say, right? 

Mr Gilchrist: The riding—it’s the name. It’s all a blur 
over there. 

The member would recognize that in cold, hard cash 
his federal Liberal friends are writing a cheque today that 
is $44 million smaller than it was on the day we were 
elected. So he can talk about tax points, he can talk about 
other programs, he can talk about the health and social 
transfers that you guys spend in 18 different categories, 
but it’s the same dollar. You can only spend it once. So if 
you’re claiming it for day care, as your federal cousins 
like to do, you can’t claim it for health care. The fact of 
the matter is that the tax points were freed up in 1977. 

Let’s look at exactly what we’re talking about here. 
The federal government and the provincial government 
were sharing responsibility for certain programs. The 
federal government said, “We’re going to do you a really 
big favour. We’re going to give you less money but we’ll 
let you be the heavy with your taxpayers. We’ll let you 
go and raise taxes more.” That sounds like perhaps an 
acceptable trade-off to the taxpayers. At least the federal 
taxes were going down and, hopefully, the provincial 
ones might not rise to fill the void that was created. 

The small problem is that within six years the federal 
government had returned and had increased their taxes 
beyond the point from which they had originally cut. The 
fact is that they tried to have it both ways. They brag 
about the surplus they have, almost all of which is gen-
erated on the backs of hardworking Ontarians: $25 bil-
lion in new revenue flows down to Ottawa. It is utterly 
shameful that the member for Essex would stand in his 
place today and articulate a fantastic defence on behalf of 
the people in Quebec and the people in the Maritimes and 
the people in other provinces, particularly in the northern 
territories, and not give a sweet damn about the taxpayers 
in his own riding, who are sending $23 billion more 
down to Ottawa this year than they get back in federal 
spending in Ontario. 

Is that what you’re standing here today and defending? 
Are you agreeing with the rape of Ontario to the tune of 
$23 billion? The bottom line is, the Premier has made a 
very simple case. We’re not asking for you to go back to 
the same 50-50 deal that was the basis of the Canada 
Health Act when it was instituted. The only way the 
federal government got their nose under the tent when it 
comes to health was to agree to a 50-50 share of your 
responsibilities. We know that would be a pipe dream. 
We know there’s not a snowball’s chance that the federal 
government will ever operate efficiently enough to 
generate the kinds of revenues to continue to honour that 
agreement. 

What we think is reasonable, though, is to go back to 
the standard that existed even at the time Mr Chrétien 
was first elected: just 18% of the total spending on health 
care in the province of Ontario. We’ll leave aside the fact 
that his federal cousins—and I’m sure you spoke highly 
of this claim throughout your riding during the last fed-
eral election—wanted a national pharmacare program. 
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They wanted a national drug program. They want a na-
tional home care program. Here we are, some consider-
able time after the election, and there’s been no progress 
on that at all. Forgive the observation that perhaps it was 
just a cynical pre-election ploy. 

The fact of the matter is that the government in Ottawa 
has now dropped from 18% to 11% and, as a result of the 
pressure put on by all the provincial Premiers, they’ve 
come back up to 14%. However, they’ve made it very 
clear that they have no interest in putting more money 
into health care. In exactly the same breath they agree 
with the increasing demands that are being faced by 
every aspect of the health care sector. They agree that 
hospitals need more equipment, that we need more home 
care, even though Ontario has the best system anywhere 
in Canada. They agree that we should be adding more 
drugs to the formulary. They agree that spending has to 
increase. But the federal Liberal government has said, 
“But don’t look to us for any more of that money.” By 
the end of our term they will be down into the single 
digits again, not 50%, not the 18% that even Mulroney 
was capable of affording when he ran a $40-billion 
deficit. No, it will be down to the lowest level in the 
history of this country since the federal government first 
entered the health arena. That is shameful. 

I would have thought the members opposite of the 
provincial Liberal Party would be seized of a responsi-
bility to defend their constituents; not defend their col-
leagues in Ottawa, not continue to leave the door open 
for Senate appointments or whatever else comes their 
way, because I can’t imagine any other inducement. You 
weren’t elected to fight federal battles. You were elected 
to stand up on behalf of your taxpayers for provincial 
services such as quality health care. 

I would remind the members opposite that even as we 
stand here today, every other provincial government 
shares the position taken by our Premier. That would 
include all the other Liberal governments across this 
country. So you’re not just out of step with us, you’re not 
just out of step with—I hate to say it—by the sounds of 
it, even a couple of our NDP colleagues; you’re out of 
step with other Liberals at the provincial level all across 
Canada. Whom precisely do you take your marching 
orders from? 

The fact of the matter is that this budget bill continues 
us along a continuum that has ensured that Ontario was 
restored to its traditional place as the engine pulling this 
country. We have had the strongest economy of any of 
the industrialized nations in the world each of the last six 
years. It’s intriguing; never having sat on the other side 
of the House, I can’t wrestle with how the thought pro-
cess works when you’re an opposition member, but every 
day we hear them say that we can’t take credit for all 
those good years because it was just the Americans. But 
now, if the suggestion is that the economy is slowing, 
“Oh, it’s all Ontario’s fault. Don’t pass any of that off to 
the Americans.” Well, you can’t have it both ways. 

Mr Marchese: No. You can’t have it both ways. 
Mr Gilchrist: You can’t have it both ways, folks. 

Ontario’s tax cuts have been the engine of growth by 

putting money back into the pockets of taxpayers all 
across this province, particularly low-income taxpayers, 
hundreds of thousands of whom have been taken right off 
the tax rolls. Those dollars were then, in some cases—in 
most cases—immediately spent again in the economy. 
2020 

You cannot find an economist, at least one who actu-
ally graduated, who would deny that a dollar spent, par-
ticularly at the retail level, will have a four- to five-time 
multiplier effect. Every time someone went out and 
bought new clothing or repaired their car or took a 
summer vacation in Ontario with dollars that would have 
gone to the provincial government but now are being left 
in their hands, every time they did that, they weren’t the 
only ones deriving a benefit. The retailer, the camp-
ground operator, the auto repair shop, you name it, all of 
those businesses also prospered and they hired more 
staff. 

We know that because we get the weekly income tax 
revenue. We know that there are 830,000-odd more 
people working in the province today than the day we 
were elected. We know that is because of an expanding 
economy fuelled by an increase in discretionary income. 
Those facts are irrefutable. 

Those are the only reasons we have been able to 
withstand the frugality in Ottawa, withstand the utter 
abuse, the neglect, the contempt for the people of this 
province. It is utterly staggering when you consider that 
the overwhelming majority of members of the federal 
Liberal caucus were elected in this province. It’s bad 
enough that the member for Essex and his colleagues 
here seem to be championing the idea of beggaring the 
people in this province. It’s even worse when the people 
responsible—again, one would believe it’s because of the 
oath they took, the campaign pledges they made to fight 
on behalf of Ontario down in Ottawa—have all thrown 
up their hands and said, “We can’t do it. We can’t with-
stand the pressure from our Quebec-based Liberal Party. 
We can’t withstand the pressure from a Prime Minister 
who wants all the money to go to Shawinigan. We want 
great services all across Canada. We want boondoggles. 
We want to be able to prop up Liberals all across this 
country, except in the province of Ontario.” They are so 
challenged mathematically, they haven’t even figured out 
that their 101 votes would win any debate, would win a 
vote in the House of Commons. They don’t have to listen 
to the Prime Minister if they’re truly seized of their 
responsibility to the people who elected them, but they’re 
not. 

We’re faced with a bill before us now that, as I said, 
continues us along the path to restoring a more appro-
priate taxation level for the long-suffering taxpayers in 
Ontario. This bill will accelerate the tax cuts that we had 
announced in a previous budget that were going to take 
effect on January 1, 2002. They’ve been accelerated to 
October 1 of this year. Those will be reductions in per-
sonal income tax, corporate income tax and capital taxes. 
Once again, those dollars will go to support men and 
women and profitable businesses—because you don’t 
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pay a tax unless you’re profitable—all across this great 
province. It will mean that from one end of this province 
to the other, in time for Christmas, people have more 
money to spend. Notwithstanding the doom and gloom 
we hear on a daily basis from the folks opposite, we’ve 
seen how retail sales tax has already caught up. We’ve 
seen how the blips that took place in a number of revenue 
streams right around the time of the tragic events on 
September 11 have already largely recovered and, in 
some cases, are exceeding the levels they were at before 
those events. 

There is absolutely no doubt in my mind, and I’m sure 
the minds of my colleagues, that Ontario is positioned 
now and better able to withstand any kind of economic 
pressure from outside of our borders, better today than 
any time since 1985. It is a fact, aside from the one 
downturn wherein we were blessed with a government of 
a different stripe, namely that of the NDP, that in every 
recession, every downturn of the economy, Ontario goes 
down last, goes down least and comes out first. Those are 
the inherent strengths that come from having a province 
so blessed with natural resources, blessed with a work-
force that is well trained and motivated, blessed with an 
adjacency to a market of over 150 million people within 
a day’s drive. Those are the strengths on which we could 
always rely as Ontarians that would carry us through the 
occasional downturns. 

The NDP did their best to ensure that they broke that 
trend and instead we went down first, went down furthest 
and came out last. But somehow that’s somebody else’s 
fault too. 

Interjection. 
Mr Gilchrist: Oh, that’s right. You blame that one on 

the Americans as well. Funny how you’ve taken a differ-
ent position for this economic downturn, but I guess con-
sistency doesn’t have to be the hallmark of the debating 
position of an opposition member. 

Another issue we’re dealing with in this bill is a con-
siderable increase in spending on security issues related 
to the aftermath of September 11. I think people have to 
recognize that if, as and when the members on the other 
side vote against this bill, as they have voted against 
every tax cut in the last six years, they will also be voting 
against strengthening the OPP, strengthening municipali-
ties, giving municipalities the ability, in fact the require-
ment, to have emergency plans to cope with the sorts of 
events we saw down in New York City. We’re talking 
about a vote against the kind of reasonable response to 
those tragic events that I would have thought any mem-
ber in this House would applaud. 

Mr Marchese: How much money are you spending? 
Mr Gilchrist: Well, there is $6 million over two years 

to build an anti-terrorism training facility for local police; 
an emergency management training centre for first re-
sponders such as firefighters, ambulance and police. Our 
government is investing over $30 million, in fact, to 
enhance Ontario’s counterterrorism and emergency man-
agement strategies. 

It’s essential that this bill be passed so that those in-
vestments can be made. It’s essential that this bill be 

passed so that we can continue to cut taxes and put 
money back into the pockets of people in this province. 

It’s also important, in the bigger context, to recognize 
that as we have strengthened Ontario’s economy, we can-
not allow the federal government to continue to assault 
us, to continue to beggar us, to continue to fail to recog-
nize that every province in this country should be treated 
equally. Even if we were to play the game of the member 
from Essex, who would love to talk about percentages 
here and percentages there, the percentage of health care 
spending in other provinces is greater than what they’re 
spending here in Ontario. If you even recognize that, if 
you even express the willingness to join us in calling on 
the federal government to just raise the percentage of 
funding in Ontario to what they’re doing in other prov-
inces today, that would be a major step forward and, I 
would submit to you, would meet your responsibility to 
the taxpayers and the health care clients in your commun-
ity. 

When we hear, as we undoubtedly will, in the weeks 
and months and years to come that a particular hospital 
needs money or an ambulance service needs to change or 
upgrade its vehicles or we hear that someone has been 
denied home care or that a waiting list is too long in an 
emergency room somewhere, we cannot lose sight of the 
fact that every single year that we have been here, we 
have increased health funding by $1 billion. So for those 
who would try and confuse the electorate by suggesting 
that somehow what you do on the tax cut side is directly 
related to the spending on health care, it’s utter fraud. 
You don’t have to take my word for it. The Provincial 
Auditor has signed off on the books for all of those years, 
back to 1995, and I would submit them for the con-
sideration of anyone who truly cares to get down to the 
cold, hard facts and not the spin done by a third party and 
maybe the federal Liberal government, for all we know. 

The fact of the matter is that all of those increases 
have not been matched by Ottawa. In fact, they’ve used 
the excuse of the success of the Ontario economy to 
continue to cut their payments. Today they are paying 
$44 million less than they transferred in the first year of 
our government. That’s the fact. 

Interjection. 
2030 

Mr Gilchrist: If the member opposite has any evi-
dence to the contrary, I would challenge him to show it to 
the Provincial Auditor, because that’s the source of our 
data. 

The reality is that both levels of government have a 
responsibility. That’s what the Canada Health Act says. 
That is what the federal government asked for when they 
signed that agreement with all of the provinces. If they 
are now singing from a different song sheet, that’s fine. 
Come clean. Tell us that you don’t care any more. Tell us 
that you’re going to take those billions in surplus and 
spend them somewhere else in the country. At least be 
honest. But don’t attack the messenger when our Premier 
goes down to Ottawa and tells it like it is. The biggest 
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threat to health care in the province of Ontario is the 
federal Liberal government. 

The second-biggest threat is the puppets at the Ontario 
Legislature who slavishly follow the dictates of their col-
leagues down in Ottawa. The second-biggest threat is the 
people opposite, right here. So I’m going to predict that 
in their zeal to continue to make friends in Ottawa, not 
back in the constituency, they will vote against this bill. I 
challenge that point of view. Instead, I call on every 
responsible member in this House to do the right thing 
and vote for this bill. 

The Acting Speaker: Questions or comments? 
Mr Dominic Agostino (Hamilton East): I listened 

with interest to the somewhat interesting conversation—I 
wouldn’t say the accuracy of the comments of the 
member. 

Maybe in his two minutes he can tell us how much 
more money he thinks we need to put into health care. 
How much more money should the provincial govern-
ment put into health care? Obviously, since you’re going 
to Ottawa saying we need more money, you don’t feel 
you are funding health care adequately in this province. 
Maybe you can tell us how much more you need and how 
much of a shortfall there is. 

I find it interesting. A couple of Paul Martin’s budgets 
ago, Harris said, “It’s a good start, but you’re not cutting 
deep enough. You’re not going far enough with the cuts.” 
This is the same Premier who goes up to Ottawa like a 
whining, crying little baby in his last few months of glory 
in Ontario and decides that once again he can’t deal with 
the problems in Ontario, so he’s got to point the finger. 

The reality is that this government finds it acceptable 
to find $2.2 billion to bring the corporate tax rate 25% 
below that of the American bordering states; this govern-
ment finds it acceptable to put $500 million into private 
schools, but feels that it cannot find enough money to 
fund health care in Ontario. 

The sheer reality is that Ontarians are not fooled by 
the bluster and the rhetoric of Mike Harris running 
around the province trying to take on Jean Chrétien and 
trying to take on everyone else who opposes him or 
disagrees with him. Ontarians know who is to blame for 
the mess we’re in, in this province. They know who is 
responsible for the health care crisis we are in, in 
Ontario. They know it’s the government of Mike Harris 
that has misplaced priorities, that believes corporate tax 
cuts to their rich corporate friends are more important 
than funding emergency rooms and ambulance services 
and MRIs and surgeries and doctors and health care in 
Ontario. So all the bluster, all the chest-pounding by the 
member opposite and by the Premier, is not going to fool 
Ontarians. They are responsible for the mess we’re in. 
They’ve made their choices, and those choices have been 
corporate tax cuts, funding to private schools instead of 
health care, and all the yelling and screaming in Ottawa 
ain’t going to change that. You ain’t gonna fool Ontar-
ians. You’re not fooling the federal government. It’s too 
late; people have caught on to your game. It ain’t work-
ing any more. 

Mr Marchese: The member for Scarborough East 
discombobulates, and I’ve got to tell you I’m somewhat 
discomfited by his remarks. 

He argues the following. He says that provinces 
should be treated fairly. No problem with that. He’s right. 
They should be treated fairly. That is why I remind 
him—and you weren’t here, member for Scarborough 
East. When we were in power, Mr Stockwell, with pro-
truding eyes—protruding, projecting out; I can’t imitate 
him as well as he can do it, but he would be somewhere 
around here, and he would say, “You don’t have a 
revenue problem; you have a spending problem.” And his 
eyes would just bulge, protrude out. Poor Bob Rae must 
have been fearless, against that assault by Stockwell. He 
was good. But I remember those remarks. 

I remember Gary Carr, a nice man, very unassuming 
and quiet, gentle, but he too was here among the same 
ranks and he argued, like Stockwell, “You don’t have a 
revenue problem; you have a spending problem.” He 
would say and they would say, “You’ve got the limous-
ine, right? Stop whining.” Mike Harris? He was some-
where around here, more or less. Same thing. He would 
argue, “Stop whining.” 

We were finding ourselves in a very difficult time, 
because the feds took all the supports away and we were 
hurting. The Tories gleefully said, “Ah, deficits.” We 
were saying, “Feds, help us.” Now he argues he wants to 
be treated fairly. All the billions he’s got are still not 
enough; he wants to be treated fairly. You’ve got the lim-
ousine, you’ve got the money, and it’s not going where it 
should be going. 

Mr Bart Maves (Niagara Falls): The member for 
Trinity-Spadina said he’s discomfited by the comments 
made by the member for Scarborough East. I believe that. 
I believe the members opposite are discomfited by the 
comments from the member for Scarborough East. Most 
of it is probably because of some of the way in which the 
member for Scarborough East makes his points. He 
makes them forcefully; he makes them unabashedly. 
He’s not ashamed to tell it like it is. 

Quite frankly, everyone in the country knows this. 
Every Premier, no matter what political stripe—every 
Liberal government, every NDP government and every 
Tory government across this country—says the same 
thing: the federal government isn’t funding its fair share 
of health care. The CMA, the Canadian Medical Associa-
tion, the OMA, the Ontario Medical Association, the On-
tario Nurses’ Association, the Ontario Long Term Care 
Association, the Ontario Hospital Association—I can go 
on and on and on—all know the federal government is 
not pulling its weight as far as funding health care in the 
province of Ontario. 

In 1993, Brian Mulroney funded 18 cents out of every 
dollar of Ontario’s health care. Jean Chrétien cut that 
down to 11 cents of every health care dollar. After a lot 
of political pressure from our Premier, he’s jumped that 
up to 14 cents. He’s still four cents on the dollar less than 
what Brian Mulroney did in 1993. 

It’s unbelievable how the members opposite, the 
Ontario Liberals, bend over backwards and just take 
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everything they can from the federal Liberals. The tax 
point argument is ridiculous. In fact, everyone knows it’s 
ridiculous, and that’s why the public doesn’t listen to it or 
care about it. 

Mr Crozier: You don’t even understand it. 
Mr Maves: Oh, I certainly do. Even the architects of 

the tax point transfer back in the 1970s have said it’s a 
crock for the— 

The Acting Speaker: Thank you. Member for Ottawa 
Centre. 

Mr Patten: The member for Scarborough East, in his 
salesmanship of ideas and ideology—and hyperbole, I 
might add—of course says only they stand up for On-
tario, which is nonsense. Everyone, of course, would 
always like to have more money from the federal gov-
ernment. It goes with the turf; it goes with the responsi-
bility. Let’s face it: when you’re in government, it’s hard 
time; you have to make hard choices. But look at the 
choices you made. 

But I’ll ask you this: why did Mike Harris sign an 
agreement, or the health minister sign an agreement, 14 
months ago? Ontario did not sign an agreement— 

Mr Bradley: They made an agreement. 
Mr Patten: You took an agreement with the federal 

government. You said that the federal government 
doesn’t care, and yet the agreement over the next five 
years is talking about $8 billion more over the next four 
years toward what this government can place in health 
care. 

Hon Brenda Elliott (Minister of Intergovernmental 
Affairs): Chrétien is misleading you. 

The Acting Speaker: Stop the clock. Minister, you 
will need to withdraw that. You said “misleading.” 

Hon Cameron Jackson (Minister of Citizenship, 
minister responsible for seniors): No, she said Chrétien 
was misleading, not him. 

Hon Mrs Elliott: Speaker, I apologize. 
The Acting Speaker: I asked you to withdraw. Do 

you want to withdraw? 
Hon Mrs Elliott: Speaker, I withdraw. 
The Acting Speaker: Thank you. 
Mr Kormos: On a point of order, Speaker: Could you 

repeat what she said? Not all of us heard it. 
The Acting Speaker: No. The member for Ottawa 

Centre. 
Mr Patten: I would like to point out one other little 

thing, and that is related to the direction in which this 
government is going in terms of its budget. I want to 
quote one of your stalwart supporters who has talked 
about what the government might consider, Christina 
Blizzard from the Toronto Sun. She is saying that maybe 
the tax credits to private schools should be shelved due to 
the changing financial priorities. She says, “The Tories 
should look to the lobby groups who pushed for this and 
tell them, ‘Look, we’ve tried to give you a break but 
sadly things have changed and now is not the time.’” 
2040 

The Acting Speaker: Response? 
Mr Gilchrist: Thank you to the members who have 

commented. 

I’m struck by how, on the one level, the suggestion 
from the NDP is—if you had a problem back when it was 
18 cents on the dollar, why you wouldn’t agree with us 
now that it’s shrunk to 11 cents on the dollar. It seems to 
defeat your own argument. 

We don’t have a revenue problem. Our revenue has 
increased 50% because of the tax cuts. I would say to the 
member from Hamilton East that this isn’t about today; 
we’re managing just fine today. It’s about the budget that 
will start on April 1, 2002, and the year after that and the 
year after that. Your federal colleagues have already said 
there is no more money. 

So while the other side would love to change the 
subject—they talk about spending on other programs and 
they talk about how we really could have done this or we 
could have done that—the fact of the matter is that every 
year, only one level of government, the provincial level, 
has spent $1 billion more on health care in the province 
of Ontario. The other level of government, the federal 
one, has cut. The Premier has made it very clear that that 
is unacceptable to him and he considers the federal 
Liberal government to be the greatest threat to health care 
in the province of Ontario. I am very concerned that the 
members opposite care more about appeasing folks in 
Ottawa than they do about dealing with their constitu-
ents’ legitimate health concerns in the future. 

Let me close on a final point, because again the 
member from Hamilton East stood up and said, “This is 
all because of your $2-billion tax cut. If it wasn’t for that, 
we wouldn’t have a problem.” Just this morning, 
Maurizio Bevilacqua, on Canada AM, bragged that the 
federal government was cutting $100 billion in taxes, and 
so he tries to argue that it’s OK for them to both cut taxes 
and neglect Ontario. Once again, stop pandering to 
Ottawa. 

Interjections. 
The Acting Speaker: Thank you. Order. Further 

debate? 
Mrs Lyn McLeod (Thunder Bay-Atikokan): I read 

the title on Bill 127 and it says that it’s about responsible 
choices for growth and fiscal responsibility. Well, Mr 
Speaker, I would suggest to you this evening that all of 
the stale, trickle-down rhetoric being offered by the right-
wing ideologues on the other side of the House is not 
going to make Bill 127 a bill that has anything to do with 
economic growth or job creation. It certainly is not a bill 
that speaks to fiscal responsibility, not when we have a 
government that’s admittedly concerned about a deficit 
that could rise anywhere from $5 billion to $6 billion to 
$7 billion, depending on which member of the govern-
ment is offering a somewhat uninformed opinion at the 
time. 

It’s not fiscal responsibility in that kind of economic 
environment, with the revenues dropping and uncertainty 
about what the budget situation will be like, to suggest 
that the answer is to accelerate a tax cut. No economist 
anywhere is going to suggest that that’s a measure of 
fiscal responsibility. 

But I’ll give the title this: Bill 127 is most definitely 
about choices. In my few minutes tonight, what I really 
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want to address is this whole issue of choices and conse-
quences. I would be quite happy to engage with others in 
the debate about who’s funding what, who’s contributing 
what to which particular budget. I’d be happy to talk 
about the $1.1 billion coming from the federal govern-
ment this year for health care, all of it going into the 
corporate tax cut, which is being accelerated in this bill. 
But I quite frankly think that is a very deliberate attempt 
by the government to distract everyone in this debate and 
in fact in Ontario from the realities of dealing with what 
this bill is all about. This bill is all about priorities and 
choices and consequences. 

I find it absolutely inconceivable that any government 
could be seriously considering more tax cuts, let alone 
accelerating tax cuts, when every public sector service 
that government should be about is so seriously under-
funded and when people are paying the price of that 
underfunding on every front. I could give examples just 
from this week. 

Education: there’s a story in the papers this weekend 
about the Toronto Board of Education, which is going to 
have to close down a school for severely disabled 
children, just the most recent effect of the underfunding 
and the cuts to education that this government has made 
in order to pay for its first tax cut, because we’re still 
paying for the consequences of that first tax cut. 

Environment: there was a debate in the House this 
afternoon about Walkerton and the report that’s going to 
be tabled on Walkerton. Without any question, part of 
that debate, part of the understanding of what happened 
in the tragedy of Walkerton, has to be an understanding 
of the consequences of cutting 33% of the staff of the 
Ministry of the Environment, cutting 45% of the budget 
of the Ministry of the Environment. But if it were just a 
consequence, perhaps they could say, “We’ve learned a 
lesson. We’re moving on.” But I come from northwestern 
Ontario, where small communities are getting boil-water 
advisories on a regular basis and they’re getting no help 
from this government to improve their water treatment 
facilities. They will not be able to ensure clean water. 

I just came from a debate last week on food safety, a 
piece of legislation this government has brought forward. 
One of the requirements to ensure that our food is safe in 
Ontario, pretty basic to health and safety, is that there be 
better inspection of food production. But there are no 
financial resources from the government to provide for 
those inspectors, and we know that one of the conse-
quences of the earlier tax cut in fact was a cut in in-
spection. 

We have a disabilities act that’s going out for public 
hearings. Well-intended? Perhaps. It’s certainly some-
thing that had to be done by a government that has 
promised a disabilities act for six years now and finally 
had to come forward with something. But all the dis-
abilities act is, is a requirement to present plans, good 
intentions, whether it’s on the part of the province or on 
the part of the municipalities, because there are no finan-
cial resources. This government has done nothing to 
provide greater access, greater participation for the dis-

abled in the life of our communities since they came to 
office. 

Those are just a handful of the consequences that the 
people of this province have experienced and are going to 
experience that we’ve debated in this Legislature in the 
last few days. Then I come to health care, as the health 
critic. I only have five minutes and I want to talk about 
future consequences. Past consequences of health—
hospitals paying the price of the first tax cut, $800 mil-
lion in cuts, and the minister can talk all he wants about 
increased funding for hospitals, but the reality is, in real 
per capita terms, that we are not yet back to the level that 
hospitals were being funded at in 1995, when this gov-
ernment took office. 

Home care: we’ve over and over again tried to raise 
the limitations that are being placed on access to home 
care. Long-term care, the delisting of services, the fact 
that children cannot get hearing aid assessment, seniors 
can’t get hearing aid assessments unless they pay for 
them out of their own pockets, waits for cancer care treat-
ment—the Minister of Finance, who is wearing a hat as a 
leadership candidate now, says he’s going to eliminate 
the waiting list for cancer treatment. I’d be really inter-
ested to know how the Minister of Health feels the 
Minister of Finance is going to be able to do that, be-
cause we’re talking about resources. We’re talking about 
resources for equipment, we’re talking about resources 
for staff and we’re talking ultimately about the conse-
quences that people pay because this government has 
made tax cuts its priority, and not health care and not 
people and not public service. 

It is inconceivable to me that any government could be 
talking about another $2.2 billion in tax cuts to corpora-
tions and another $500 million in a tax credit for private 
schools, when our publicly funded services are so under-
funded and when the people’s needs are so great. It’s 
inconceivable, as I suggested, that they could be looking 
at a tax cut of any kind when we’re experiencing an 
economic downturn. I don’t know which minister to 
believe when they offer ideas of whether it’s going to be 
a $5-billion deficit that we could be facing or a $6-billion 
deficit or a $7-billion deficit, because I know what this 
government’s answer is going to be by next April, when 
they see the consequence of another round of tax cuts, 
when they see that the consequence is going to be 
another deficit budget. They’re going to say, “Oh, no, 
there’s no way that this Conservative government”—that 
did get rid of a $10-billion deficit that they inherited; let 
me recognize that fact—“is going to see another deficit 
budget.” So what does that mean? It means more cuts, 
and I simply don’t know where they’re going to find the 
cuts, because the publicly funded agencies have already 
been bled dry, and people who need the services of those 
agencies cannot handle any more consequences of more 
cuts. 
2050 

Surely they’re not going to cut social services again 
and put even more children on welfare. Surely they’re 
not going to cut child protection, when children’s aid 
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societies can’t even find the resources to meet the legal 
mandate of going in to protect children. Surely they’re 
not going to make more cuts to the environment, with all 
the lip service they’re giving to their new-found concern 
for the environment. And, they’re saying that there won’t 
be any more cuts to health. What does that mean? In a 
world in which we have an increasing population—I 
think the Ontario Hospital Association says that they 
have to provide for a population that increases by the size 
of the province of Prince Edward Island every year—an 
aging population with more health care needs, increased 
demands on the system, new medications which we know 
in the long term will be cost-effective, they’re certainly 
life-enhancing—all of these are driving up the cost of 
health care. Obviously they’re going to drive up the cost 
of health care. So what does “no cuts to health care” 
mean? It means more cuts to services because the dollars 
to meet those increased needs for services and the in-
flationary costs and the increase in the population and the 
aging population are not going to be met by this 
government. 

The tax cut to corporations: when the member for 
Scarborough East talks about putting money in people’s 
pockets, that might have been true, theoretically, in the 
first tax cut, although I haven’t found many average 
working families who are terribly grateful for that, 
because they’ve seen so many added costs taking money 
out of their budgets. But this tax cut, nobody can talk 
about putting money in the pockets of average families. 
It’s going to wealthy corporations. 

There is no way that tax cut is going to help the 
average family pay the cost of a hearing aid assessment 
for their child, or home care for an aging parent, or 
physiotherapy or speech therapy. In my home commun-
ity, with the cuts to home care, speech therapy has been 
lost. 

I do not believe that this bill is about economic 
growth. I don’t believe it’s about competition, because 
this puts us 25% lower in our corporate tax rate than our 
neighbours to the south. This bill is about right-wing 
ideology. It’s about the choices that people make when 
they want to offer up tax cuts and they’re not really very 
concerned about the consequences. It makes sense only 
to those people who believe the answer to the cuts to 
public service is to let people pay privately out of their 
pockets. That is no advantage to the average working 
family in this province. 

Mr Kormos: On a point of order, Mr Speaker: 
Quorum call, please. 

The Acting Speaker: Is there quorum present? 
Clerk at the Table (Mr Todd Decker): Mr Speaker, 

a quorum is not present. 
The Acting Speaker ordered the bells rung. 
Clerk at the Table: Mr Speaker, a quorum is now 

present. 
The Acting Speaker: Thank you. Questions? Com-

ments? 
Mr Kormos: This is why it is so regrettable that the 

government is imposing what we call time allocation, 

what we call a closure motion, because this bill is about 
so many things more than just budgetary measures in 
their barest sense. 

I was over at Ross Street school again a couple of 
weeks ago on a Saturday. The Ross Street school on 
Niagara Street in Welland is holding at least three, four, I 
think up to five fundraisers a year now. Teachers, parents 
and students are in there on a Saturday, doing all kinds of 
preparatory work on a Friday, and this last weekend, two 
weekends ago at Ross Street school, it was all about, 
again, some of the most fundamental things that those 
students needed for their day-to-day education. They 
weren’t raising money for frills. They weren’t raising any 
money for extras. They were raising money for core 
elements of their school funding, and Ross Street school 
isn’t unique. More and more teachers, more and more 
parents of students in these elementary and high schools 
are spending more and more time raising money. Why? 
Because you can’t give the profitable corporate friends of 
the Tories a $2.2-billion to $2.4-billion tax break without 
getting the money from somewhere else. Let me tell 
you—especially when you’re looking at a $5-billion or 
maybe a $6-billion or $7-billion shortfall because of the 
recession, which this government’s tax breaks did 
nothing to protect us against—you’re inevitably talking 
about scooping money out of the budgets of health and 
education, the two big-ticket items in provincial ex-
penditures, as they should be. Mark my words: there are 
going to be more health cuts, there are going to be more 
delistings of medical and other surgical procedures, 
there’s going to be more money stolen from education at 
the elementary and secondary levels and, yes, the post-
secondary school level because of this. 

Mr Garfield Dunlop (Simcoe North): It’s a pleasure 
to rise this evening and say a few words on Bill 127, the 
Responsible Choices for Growth and Fiscal Responsi-
bility Act. 

Right off the bat, I want to compliment the finance 
minister for bringing forth this piece of legislation. Ob-
viously, with the downturn in the economy, and of course 
in the aftermath of September 11, it was nice to see a 
follow-up economic review of the budget that was intro-
duced in May. I think we’ve been after the federal 
government for almost two years now to provide some 
kind of budget. For some reason, Mr Chrétien and Mr 
Martin didn’t want to do a budget last year. 

Mr Beaubien: They’ve been on holiday. 
Mr Dunlop: They’ve taken a two-year holiday. Now 

they’ve been shamed into doing a budget, I think, on 
December 10. Of course, as soon as you mention the 
federal government in this House, the members opposite 
go out of their minds. They don’t want to hear about the 
health care issues. The fact of the matter is—and I think 
the members from the third party will probably agree 
with me on this—we have about a $17-billion surplus in 
Ottawa. About half of those dollars are from Ontario 
taxpayers. Is there something wrong in the Premier of 
Ontario, acting on behalf of the citizens of Ontario, 
asking for some of their hard-earned dollars that are 
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sitting in federal coffers to be returned to our health care 
system that they so inadequately fund? Back to the story: 
14 cents on the dollar is what we’re receiving, $60 
million a year less this year than we received in 1995. I 
think that’s a concern. I don’t think anybody in Ontario 
anybody in Canada would blame Premier Harris for 
going after those funds. It’s fair to say the federal govern-
ment owes the Ontario taxpayers money. It’s as simple as 
that. I’ve only got a couple of seconds left, but I do 
appreciate this opportunity tonight. 

Mr Bradley: The member for Thunder Bay would 
know, of course, that Mike Harris does not want the 
money for health care. 

Interjections. 
The Acting Speaker: Order. Stop the clock. 
Interjection. 
The Acting Speaker: Member for Hamilton East. 
Interjections. 
The Acting Speaker: Order. 
Member for St Catharines. 
Mr Bradley: You can tell, when the government 

members are yelling and protesting as strongly as they 
are, that they’re in a vulnerable position. I almost felt 
sorry for Mike Harris. There he was: he went down to 
Ottawa to make his speech and, you know, he wanted to 
put something over on people at that time. He wanted to 
try to convince them that he wanted the money for health 
care. Everybody knows what he wants the money for. 
He’s got to pay for those tax cuts. The Honourable Chris 
Stockwell, Minister of Labour, said it. He said, “Look, 
you can’t afford tax cuts next year. It’s crazy. You can’t 
square that circle.” Do you know something? The 
Honourable Chris Stockwell, Minister of Labour, was 
right. He must be embarrassed at having the Premier in 
Ottawa. The jig is up. Everybody knows what he wants 
the money for. He’s losing all this money on tax cuts, and 
he’s now got to use the money for something else. 

If I were the federal government, I would spend the 
money directly on health care. I would never hand it to 
these people, who will simply put it in their pockets for 
their tax cuts, the way they do with a lot of federal 
expenditures, and then smile merrily as they go on. 

The other concern I have—the member mentioned it 
in her speech—is the funding formula, which forces local 
boards of education to close schools. At the present time 
in St Catharines, Consolidated, Victoria, Maplewood, 
Lakebreeze and Dalewood are all under the gun from the 
local board of education. Is it because the local board 
wants to close these excellent neighbourhood schools? 
No. It’s because of a funding formula imposed by the 
provincial government, a funding formula that is driven 
by their incessant need for tax cuts for the rich cor-
porations. 
2100 

Mr Bisson: I’ve got to say I am so excited and so 
happy that all of a sudden the Tories have figured it out. 
They’ve figured out that there’s a problem where the 
federal government has been downloading its responsi-
bility on to the provincial government. I’m so happy 

because they’re finally getting the message we were 
trying to give in government, that the federal government 
was absolving itself from its responsibility of transferring 
much-needed dollars, which came from the taxpayers of 
Ontario, to the provincial coffers to deal with their fair 
share of the responsibility for building and paying for the 
health care system, education and other much-needed 
systems. 

I wonder why, all of a sudden, there’s been this 
change. I was a member of the government when Mike 
Harris used to stand and say, “You don’t have a revenue 
problem; you’ve got a spending problem.” I say to the 
government across the way, you’ve got the same 
spending problem. You’re giving out over $6 billion in 
tax cuts, and then you’re running to the federal govern-
ment and saying, “Poor me. I need more money. I can’t 
afford to pay for health care.” Then you’ve got Harris 
saying, “It’s so bad that if I don’t get my 18% share of 
health care I’m going to either privatize the health care 
system or put user fees into the system.” That’s what he 
accused and attacked Prime Minister Chrétien with just 
yesterday. 

I say to Mike Harris and I say to the Conservatives, 
finally there’s some common sense on the other side. 
You’ve finally agreed with Bob Rae that there needs to 
be a fair share of revenues coming back that go over to 
the feds coming back to the province of Ontario. It’s 
better late than never, I guess. I would have appreciated it 
before 1995. It might have helped us a bit more elec-
torally. But finally you’ve figured it out, and I’ve got to 
congratulate you because, yes, it is a problem. The fed-
eral government is not transferring the dollars to the 
province that they should, but you shouldn’t be putting it 
out in tax cuts. 

The Acting Speaker: Response? 
Mrs McLeod: Thank you, Mr Speaker. I do appre-

ciate the comments of my colleagues, although I was a 
bit surprised at the contribution of the member for 
Simcoe North, who welcomed this as a follow-up to the 
budget that the government presented last spring and 
seemed pleased that there would be a follow-up follow-
ing the economic downturn. Well, I think most objective 
observers of this particular bill as a follow-up to last 
spring’s budget would wonder why it did not take into 
account the economic reversals we’ve seen since that 
budget was presented, and I would suggest that perhaps 
the Minister of Finance, in bringing forward this bill, has 
on ideological blinders that are so fixed that they’ve got 
him pursuing a direction nobody else understands. 

The government keeps trying to offer up very old 
arguments, which they might have been able to trot out 
prior to the presentation of the spring budget, about the 
tax cuts somehow creating jobs and economic growth. 
They don’t want to take into account the fact that we’ve 
lost 30,000 jobs in the last year. They don’t want to see 
that as being a significant failure of their argument that 
tax cuts produce economic growth. The tax cuts are still 
there. They’re offering us more of them, and we’re losing 
jobs. 
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I don’t happen to be one of the people who hold this 
government accountable for the economic downturn. I 
think that as the United States economy goes and as our 
export industry goes, so goes our economy. But just as I 
don’t hold them responsible for the economic downturn, I 
give them absolutely no credit for having encouraged our 
economic good times through their tax cuts. 

What I know for sure is that another round of tax cuts 
is going to bring consequences that are simply intolerable 
for public services and for people in this province. I am 
amazed that the Minister of Health, who should be 
begging for more money for health care services, is 
actually proposing another $500-million cut in taxes if he 
becomes Premier, in the health levy, no less. He wants to 
put money in the pockets of the truly wealthy and then 
free them to go out and buy their health care. That’s the 
sense of his point. 

Mr Bisson: On a point of order, Mr Speaker: It looks 
like we don’t have a quorum again. 

The Acting Speaker: Is a quorum present? 
Clerk at the Table: Mr Speaker, a quorum is not 

present. 
The Acting Speaker ordered the bells rung. 
Clerk at the Table: Mr Speaker, a quorum is now 

present. 
The Acting Speaker: Further debate? The member 

for Trinity-Spadina. 
Applause. 
Mr Marchese: Thank you, my friend from St 

Catharines. 
Ten minutes is all we get. Please, 10 minutes is all we 

get. What is 10 minutes in this place when there is so 
much to be said? Ten minutes—look at the clock. It’s 
9:05 now. I’ve got 10 minutes, and do you know what? 
They have announced that they’re going to move closure 
on this bill. 

Interjection. 
Mr Marchese: Minister of Citizenship, what was 

that? I didn’t hear. 
The Acting Speaker: This is not a time for discussion 

of scores. It’s your debate time; you have the floor. 
Mr Marchese: As I was saying, this government has 

announced that they’re going to move closure on this bill. 
Why are they moving closure on this bill? Not because 
they’re happy to debate, because if you’ve noticed, 
Speaker, in the last little while I have made the ob-
servation that they are afraid. I’ve got to tell you, people 
who are watching this parliamentary channel have seen 
the polls and they can’t be pretty. Otherwise, you would 
not have had so many Tories stand up, day in and day 
out, whining about why the feds are not giving them 
enough money. 

Why else would they whine, except and unless they’ve 
seen the polls and the polls are not pretty? Why else 
would they be whining, unless M. Flaherty, the illustrious 
Mr Flaherty, the Minister of Finance, has indicated to this 
group in a regular caucus meeting that they have a 
financial problem on their hands? Why else would you be 
hearing from these Tories, day in and day out, that they 

want more money from the feds, even though the mem-
ber from Scarborough East argued, “Why, our revenues 
have gone up 50%”? My goodness, I argue to you, good 
citizens all, if revenues for the Ontario government have 
gone up 50%, why do they whine so much about why the 
feds are not giving them enough? Presumably, if your 
revenues have gone up by 50%, you wouldn’t need 
somebody else’s money, would you, because it would 
mean that your pockets are full. 

Mr Agostino: Overflowing. 
Mr Marchese: Exactly. Your pockets would be 

overflowing with money. Wouldn’t you argue that, 
Rocco? Sure, I would argue that. But it means that for 
some reason, they don’t have enough money in their 
pockets, it seems. Why? Because they’re giving it all 
away with big, long shovels. They’re giving it away, and 
do you know who’s suckling at the public trough? Why, 
the corporate sector is sitting there suckling at the public 
trough day in and day out, and boy, are they happy to 
receive. And the government is happy to give. They give 
and they give, and the corporate sector and the wealthy 
Ontarians are happily suckling at the trough. 

Mr Kormos: Like Romulus and Remus. 
Mr Marchese: Like Romulus and Remus indeed, 

suckling there, and they can’t get enough from this gov-
ernment. They can’t get enough. They’re shovelling it 
away, and then they say to Chrétien, “You’re not giving 
us enough money,” as they give it away and they’re 
suckling there, like this. It must taste really good to give 
your public taxpayers’ money away so easily. 
2110 

Mr Kormos: It sure is fattening. 
Mr Marchese: Sure, it’s fattening. Of course it’s 

fattening. They can’t get enough. They cannot get 
enough from this government. My buddy Clement, the 
Minister of Health, says, “They’re not getting enough.” 
Why, if he gets elected, he’s going to give them some 
more, right? 

They’re waiting there just suckling away, enjoying it 
to the last lap. Clement loves to give your money away. 
He’s not happy with how much he’s given. He wants to 
give more because the private sector is saying, “Give us 
more. We’ll create more jobs.” 

So I say to myself, OK, the federal Liberal govern-
ment says they created all these jobs and they hadn’t 
given tax cuts until a short while ago, a year or a year and 
a half ago or so. They were creating these jobs in spite of 
the tax cuts. But that cannot be, because the Tories argue, 
no, their tax cuts are producing all these jobs. Now, who 
do you believe? Do you believe the Liberals nationally, 
who are saying it’s because of them that we have a good 
economy? They hadn’t given any tax cuts until last year. 
I’ve got to tell you, I’m not happy about that, because the 
economy’s going down. That money’s going to go away 
really quickly when they give it away to the corporate 
sector at the federal level as well, so I’m not happy with 
that. But they claim they created a great economy with-
out the tax cuts, and these guys say, “No, we did it.” 
Ontarians, take a look at that contradiction, please. 
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Then Harris argues, “Because of the tax cuts we will 
keep away the recession.” He said in this place, “If you 
bring back the New Democrats or even the Liberals, 
you’ll have a deficit. Keep us and you’ll keep the re-
cessions and deficits away.” Are you following me, 
Ontarians? Because these other people are yapping away, 
they’re sleeping in here, and they’re not listening. But are 
you listening to me? You’ve got to take note of the 
contradictions and take note of what these people say. 

Liberals created a good economy without tax cuts for 
a long time. Now they’re giving tax cuts and they don’t 
have the money and they’re in trouble. Tories have given 
tax cuts and they’re creating jobs and they will kick the 
recession, and we’re now in trouble. We don’t have any 
money, to the point that Mr Tsubouchi, the Chair of 
Management Board, said, “Boys, tighten up the belts. We 
don’t have enough money. We’re going to have to cut $5 
billion.” 

But I thought we had a great economy and I thought 
we were supposed to be well off with respect to every 
asset of public life that we value. Well, we value our 
educational system, yet our educational partners said they 
cut $2.3 billion at the elementary level. How can that be? 

Someone is playing Iago. Do you remember Iago in 
Othello, honest Iago who went to Othello and said, 
“Desdemona is deceiving you,” and because of it he 
commits a most egregious crime against Desdemona? 
Anyway, this was honest Iago. They, the Tories, play 
honest Iago all the time. They say, “Trust us. We put 
more money into education.” The Tories say it. The 
member from Niagara Falls is about to stand up in two 
minutes and say how much they have given to education. 
He’s about to stand up; I can see he’s edgy. 

Look at the cuts they have made to health care because 
they haven’t kept up with inflation and they haven’t kept 
up with the increased numbers of immigrants we have in 
this province. Look at the cuts they made to Natural 
Resources, Environment—oh, such a bloated bureau-
cracy. They needed to cut that bloated bureaucracy, with 
dire consequences. People died in this great economy of 
theirs; they didn’t die in a recessionary period under New 
Democrats. 

We now have a housing shortage that you wouldn’t 
believe. We have rents skyrocketing, and people can’t 
afford it. We have people on welfare because these 
people took money away from them, and even though 
they’ve taken all this money away from the very poor, 
they still don’t have enough for what we need. They’re 
whining about the feds not giving them enough as they 
give it away to the wealthy, who are suckling away. 

So I say to you, Ontarians, we have a serious problem 
on our hands. New Democrats unequivocally said in 
1999 we would roll back tax cuts. Why did we say that? 
We said we would roll back tax cuts for those who make 
taxable income of $80,000, which amounts to $90,000, 
$95,000, close to $100,000. They’re doing OK. We 
would roll them back, we said in 1999, when we 
anticipated there would be problems and that we would 
need money. But not them. They’re so ideological, like 

Mr Clement and others who say, “Oh, we’re going to cut 
more taxes, because people earn it and we need to 
increase their tax cuts so we can get more money back so 
we can make more cuts”—to our education system and to 
our health care system, which is in a shambles. Some 
people are dying. The system is in a shambles and they’re 
going to cut $5 billion as they give billions away in 
shovelfuls. 

We need debate. We don’t need closure motions. We 
need more and more debate so the people of Ontario can 
listen to the problems they’re experiencing and suffering.  

The Acting Speaker: Questions and comments? 
Mr Maves: It’s a pleasure to rise and respond to my 

good friend the member from Trinity-Spadina. I’m a little 
bit worried because for six and a half years now, and 
even beyond that a little bit, the Liberals have jumped 
around. They’ve had a different position on every issue: a 
different day, a different way of looking at things. They 
put the finger up in the air and the wind’s blowing a 
different way, so different positions on taxes, different 
positions on spending. 

The NDP is always consistent. They have two things 
they’ve always said. Number one is to tax more. When 
they were in office, they taxed and taxed. When we were 
in office, they said, “Don’t cut taxes. You should add 
taxes and add taxes.” When they campaigned in 1999, 
they wanted to add taxes. Why? They believed they 
should take more and more money from those people 
who work hard and earn it and let government spend it 
because, I guess, government knows better, because it 
knows how to make it work better. The economy be 
damned. Scare away business investment? “Phooey,” 
they said. 

The other thing is to spend more. It was spend, spend, 
spend in the early 1990s and a balanced budget be 
damned. Deficits were good, they thought. Deficits were 
going to help the economy. Debt? “Don’t be afraid of 
debt. It’s OK.” So they racked up $50 billion. 

Here’s what scares me. They’ve always been con-
sistent with their messages, so you knew where they 
stood. But now, as to their “tax more,” about a couple of 
weeks ago they started calling for tax cuts. They’re the 
second-to-last party in Canada to start thinking tax cuts 
are good. They started calling for tax cuts. Now I’m 
getting worried. 

Now, tonight, they’re leaving their “spend more,” that 
the government should keep spending and spending. 
Tonight they’re starting to leave that position and they 
say now that we’re spending too much. So I’m getting a 
little worried. I hope they can get back on message 
because we really need them to do that. 

Mr Bradley: The first tragedy, of course, is that the 
member for Trinity-Spadina is confined to 10 minutes of 
speaking time because of the new rules, and that in itself 
is a detriment to this House.  

I want to compliment the member on clearly iden-
tifying the choices available to this government. The gov-
ernment can either invest money in health care or invest 
money in tax cuts for the wealthiest people in the 
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province. They have decided they’re going to spend 
money on tax cuts. They admitted it and I suspect the 
member for Scarborough East, who enters the chamber 
now and is a true believer, would truly believe that would 
be the case. 

If you had people on the government side who said, 
“We’ve made the choice; we’re going to cut taxes and to 
heck with the health care system, the education system or 
any other government expenditures; we believe that tax 
cuts are supreme,” if they said that, at least they would be 
putting forward a consistent position, but what Mike 
Harris wants the money for— 

Interjection. 
Mr Bradley: The member is quite right. What he 

wants federal transfers for is to pay for his tax cuts. He 
understands, as the Honourable Chris Stockwell, the 
Minister of Labour, now understands because he’s 
against further tax cuts, and as the member for Trinity-
Spadina understands, these tax cuts are going to cost the 
government up to $3.7 billion in revenue. They’ve got to 
find the revenue somewhere, so they’re going to the 
federal government now and saying, “Please give us 
money for health care.” 

If I were the federal government, I would spend the 
money directly on health care. Why would you transfer it 
to these people so they can put it in their pockets and 
give it away in tax cuts? They have a choice, as the 
member points out, either tax cuts or health care, and 
they’ve chosen tax cuts and they’re going to have to live 
with that. 
2120 

Mr Kormos: First, I applaud the member for Trinity-
Spadina. He laid it out here in a way that’s very real. I do 
wish he’d address the somewhat mixed metaphor of 
suckling at the trough. That’s a mixed metaphor in terms 
of how I understood it. I’m sure the member will correct 
himself when he gets to respond to these questions and 
comments. But at the end of the day, whether he mixes 
his metaphors or not, the fact is that tax cuts cost our 
health care system, they cost our education system and 
they cost our Ministry of the Environment. 

Nobody likes to pay taxes, I acknowledge that. I don’t 
like to pay taxes. I don’t like to pay for gas for my car, 
though, either. At the end of the day, if we’re going to 
have public institutions that serve our families and our 
communities, if we’re going to build a public health care 
system that ensures every person in this province and in 
this country gets adequate medical treatment, then we’ve 
got to invest in it. You can’t keep stealing from it to pay 
off your rich corporate friends, to pay off your wealthiest 
of the wealthiest here in Ontario. If we really believe in 
quality education, then we have to be prepared to invest 
in it, as taxpayers. 

The minimum wage in here is $78,000 a year and 
there’s but a handful who don’t make more than that. The 
people in this chamber are the ones who got the tax cuts. 
They’re not the ones who need it. Paying for the tax cuts 
of the people in this chamber and of even wealthier and 

higher income earners is what has robbed health care and 
education. 

Mr Dunlop: I appreciate being able to make a few 
comments on the member from Trinity-Spadina’s time to 
debate here this evening. There’s been a lot of opposition 
tonight from the opposition parties to the acceleration of 
the tax cuts; no question about that. When I think of tax 
cuts, I also worry about the interest rates we pay at our 
banks. I don’t think that David Dodge, the governor of 
the Bank of Canada, was appointed by Mike Harris. I 
could be wrong. Maybe he was. If I’m not mistaken, he 
was a federal appointment. I don’t think Brian Mulroney 
appointed him either. I wonder who appointed him? It 
wasn’t Alexa McDonough. It might have been Jean 
Chrétien. I wonder what David Dodge is doing with the 
Bank of Canada interest rates right today? He’s lowering 
them. 

Interjection: Why? 
Mr Dunlop: Because it stimulates the economy. It 

helps invest in the economy. That’s the same as tax cuts. 
That’s what helps business. Do you not understand that? 
Where are you coming from over there? You stimulate 
the economy by dropping interest rates for businesses 
and the people of Ontario. You don’t understand that. 
The fact of the matter is, you don’t want to hear that 
David Dodge is doing that, because that’s saving busi-
nesses money and that’s saving taxpayers money, the 
same as corporate tax cuts and individual personal in-
come tax cuts help individuals. It is to stimulate the econ-
omy. We are taking advantage of a downturn in the 
economy. It will create jobs. It will strengthen the 
economy of the province. 

The Acting Speaker: Response? 
Mr Marchese: I wish I had time to respond to friends 

and foes alike, but I don’t. 
Mr Kormos: Will you at least straighten out your 

metaphor? 
Mr Marchese: We will deal with the metaphor when 

I have 20 minutes. 
The member from Simcoe North argued earlier—don’t 

go away—that Ontario pays close to 50% of the taxes—
you said earlier—and doesn’t get as much back. It 
doesn’t pay as much as 50%; it is about 44% or 46%, in 
that range. But it doesn’t matter. He says we are not 
being treated fairly by the federal government. It’s an 
interesting argument. The city of Toronto says, “Hold on 
here, we pay close to 44% of taxes to the province of 
Ontario and we’re not getting our money back. In fact 
you’re downloading more costs to us. What gives?” 

I wanted to tell my buddy from Simcoe North, who’s 
not able to be present, to listen to this argument. It’s not 
fair. You can’t make one argument for them and then 
forget that there’s the city of Toronto saying, “Give us 
the fair share that we give to you.” 

Interjections. 
Mr Marchese: Now they’re whining again. They 

whine; they whine in every which direction. They whine 
north, they whine south; they whine every which way. 
They whine everywhere. Then the member for Niagara 
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Falls says, “The NDP spent and spent and spent and 
spent.” 

Interjections. 
Mr Marchese: Hold on. I’ve only got 36 seconds. 
The NDP did spend; it’s true. We spent. On capital 

projects, on sewers that we need, on bridges, on high-
ways, on schools, on hospitals, we spent. What are they 
spending on? They’re spending your taxpayers’ money, 

giving it away to the wealthy as they suckle at the public 
trough. That’s where your money is going. It’s going to 
the corporations, who love to receive, and it’s going to 
the wealthy. That’s the difference between us and them. 

The Acting Speaker: It being 9:30 of the clock, this 
House stands adjourned until 1:30 of the clock tomorrow 
afternoon. 

The House adjourned at 2126. 
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